Aus dem Institut für Tier- und Umwelthygiene - ITU des Fachbereichs Veterinärmedizin der Freien Universität Berlin

und

der Arbeitsgruppe Digitales Tierwohlmonitoring der Abteilung Sensorik und Modellierung des Leibniz-Instituts für Agrartechnik und Bioökonomie e.V. (ATB)

Recording methods of respiratory parameters in cattle

Inaugural-Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Grades einer Doktorin der Veterinärmedizin an der Freien Universität Berlin

> vorgelegt von Lena Sophia Dißmann Tierärztin aus Berlin

Berlin 2024

Journal-Nr.: 4443

1

Gedruckt mit Genehmigung des Fachbereichs Veterinärmedizin der Freien Universität Berlin

Dekan: Univ.-Prof. Dr. Uwe Rösler Erster Gutachter: Univ.-Prof. Dr. Thomas Amon Zweite Gutachterin: Univ.-Prof. Dr. Christa Thöne-Reineke Dritter Gutachter: Univ.-Prof. Dr. Wolfgang Heuwieser

Deskriptoren (nach CAB-Thesaurus):

cattle; respiration; respiration rate; energy exchange; sensors; pressure; lung function; diagnostic techniques

Tag der Promotion: 28.02.2024

Table of contents

List of abbreviations4
List of figures
List of tables7
1. Introduction8
1.1 Why is it important to record respiratory parameters in cattle?
1.2 Which respiratory parameters are recorded in cattle and what methods are used? 12
1.3 Objectives of this study15
2. Research Publications in Peer-Reviewed Journals16
2.1 Publication "A"
2.2 Publication "B"
3. Discussion and Outlook 39
3.1 Application of Sensor Systems for the recording of respiratory parameters
3.2 Relevance of pulmonary function testing in future research
4. Conclusion
5. Summary 45
6. Zusammenfassung 47
7. References 49
8. Publications and Oral Presentations 58
9. Acknowledgements 60
10. Funding Sources
11. Conflict of Interest
12. Declaration of Independence63

List of abbreviations

- AOI Area of interest
- **ATB** Leibniz Institute for Agricultural Engineering and Bioeconomy e.V
- **Bpm** Breaths per minute
- **BRD** Bovine respiratory disease
- **IOS** Impulse oscillometry system
- pO₂ Partial pressure of oxygen
- **pCO**₂ Partial pressure of carbon dioxide
- **RR** Respiration rate
- **RTQ** Respiratory time quotient
- Vmin Respiratory minute volume
- Vt Tidal volume

List of figures

Section 2.1

Figure 1	Boxplot analysis of the mean absolute deviation of the respiration rate (RR) from the RR sensor by the five investigated methods of counting (n = 230)p	. 19
Figure 2	Mean absolute deviation of the five investigated methods for the RR sensor against the level of RR (breaths/min) from 46 recordings counted by five observers (n = 230)	. 19
Section 2.2		
Figure 1	RR sensor fixed on the calf's nostrils with a nose ringp	. 26
Figure 2	Impulse oscillometry system (IOS) adapted to a tightly fitting rigid facemask	. 26
Figure 3	IOS: Three consecutive measurements (each measurement is represented by a different color) of the tidal volume (Vt) (difference between maximum and minimum of the Volume in L) and the RR of one calf registered by the IOS	. 27
Figure 4	RR sensor: Pressure registration of the RR sensor corresponding to the flow equivalent after smoothing and adjusting the inhalation cycle to body temperature and pressure saturated (BTPS) conditions	. 27
Figure 5	Respiration rate sensor: Integrated pressure curve corresponding to the tidal volume equivalentp	. 28
Figure 6	RR sensor: Tidal volume equivalent of the RR sensor after baseline correctionp	. 28
Figure 7	Scatter diagram showing the raw RR measured by the IOS and the RR sensor (n = 46)p	. 29
Figure 8	Scatter diagram showing the calibrated RR measured by the IOS and the RR sensor (n = 46)p	. 29
Figure 9	Scatter diagram showing the Vt measured by the IOS and the raw Vt equivalent of the RR sensor (n = 46)p	. 30
Figure 10	Scatter diagram showing the Vt measured by the IOS and the calibrated Vt equivalent of the RR sensor (n = 46)p	. 30
Figure 11	Scatter diagram showing the minute volume (Vmin) measured by the IOS and the raw Vmin of the RR sensor (n = 46)p	. 31
Figure 12	Scatter diagram showing the Vmin measured by the IOS and the calibrated Vmin of the RR sensor (n = 46)p	. 31

Section 3.1

Figure 1	Infrared thermography image tracking the Area of Interest (AOI)	
	(here nostrils) and extracting the highest temperature peaks in a	
	breathing curve	p. 40

List of tables

Section 2.1

Table 1	Agreement of different counting methods for the RR with the
	Sensor measurement of an RR sensor using Lin's concordance
	correlation coefficient (CCC) for all observers (n = 230) and for the
	best and worst of five observers (n = 46)p. 20

Section 2.2

Table 1	Raw parameters of RR, Vt, and Vmin of RR sensor (n = 59) and IOS (n = 54)p. 32
Table 2	P-values of the Wilcoxon test for raw and calibrated parameters between RR sensor and IOS of all observations (n = 46)p. 33
Table 3	Spearman correlation between RR sensor and IOS for all observations (n = 46) and median per calf (n = 10) after calibration process
Table 4	Spearman correlation between RR and Vt of the IOS (n = 54) as well as between RR and Vt equivalent of the RR sensor (n = 59)p. 34

1. Introduction

1.1 Why is it important to record respiratory parameters in cattle?

Respiration rate (RR) is a fundamental parameter to evaluate the health status of cattle since it is a very sensitive indicator for animal discomfort at an early stage. However, it is not specific for the diagnosis of respiratory dysfunctions in animals (Reinhold 2023) as it is an indicator of stress and painful processes in general (Knickel et al. 2000; Stöber 1990) as well as heat exposure (Pinto et al. 2020; Schütz et al. 2014). Since other influencing factors such as pregnancy, body size, and age also lead to deviations in the RR, an altered RR must always be assessed under the given circumstances regarding cow-based factors and ambient conditions (Atkins et al. 2018; Reece and Rowe 2018). The great advantage of the RR is that it can be measured objectively by using numerical values (breaths per minute (bpm)) like for body temperature. Whereas in the case of other specific respiratory symptoms such as dyspnea or cough, many studies often lack a clear demarcation between physiological and pathological symptoms and depend on the observer (Ferraro et al. 2021).

Nevertheless, the RR is highly susceptible for interference und can rapidly change during the day; therefore, continuous recording of respiratory parameters by visual devices would be valuable in order to obtain less biased data (Atkins et al. 2018). However, to measure the RR automatically a standardized reference method is needed. The current gold standard method for measuring the RR is the visual observation of the flank movement of the cow over a short period of time. Currently various methods can be found in literature how to count the RR in cattle (Lowe et al. 2019; Milan et al. 2016; Maia et al. 2014). Therefore, the first paper of the dissertation focused on the investigation of different counting methods of the RR and aimed to determine the most reliable method. In order to diagnose respiratory diseases more accurately, additional lung-specific parameters such as biomarkers in the blood, lung function, and ultrasonic testing are required (Ider and Maden 2022; Puig et al. 2022; Porter et al. 2021). For lung function testing in calves a facemask is currently needed, which limits the natural behavior of animals and can therefore only be applied over a short period of time. Consequently, the second paper of the dissertation focused on the evaluation of a new measurement method of the tidal volume (Vt) in cattle.

In summary, this dissertation compared various recording methods of RR and investigated a possible new measurement method of the Vt in cattle as well. The long-term goal is to measure these parameters automatically and to use them as an early indicator for respiratory diseases, heat stress, and discomfort. The investigations were carried out on calves as well as on cows.

a) Anatomical conditions

Especially in cattle, an early detection of respiratory diseases is advisable because cattle are predisposed to respiratory tract diseases due to their anatomical conditions (Robinson 1982). The bovine lung is divided into 6 lobes: four on the right (cranial, middle, caudal, and accessory) and 2 on the left side (cranial and caudal) (Weekley and Veit 1995). One of the anatomical peculiarities of the bovine lung is its strong segmentation, which means that each segment is supplied by only one bronchus and is clearly demarcated from the other segments by connective tissue. In addition, there are - as in sheep and pigs - no interbronchial connections in cattle (Reinhold 1997). Therefore, obstructive lung diseases lead to an interruption of oxygen supply of this lung segment resulting in atelectasis. This pulmonary system has the evolutionary advantage that an infection of one lung segment can be spatially well delimited. In addition, the number of pulmonary capillaries per alveolar unit is lower in cattle than in other species resulting in a lower gas exchange capacity (Veit and Farrel 1978). Furthermore, since cattle only have 25 % of the lung volume per unit body weight compared to the mammalian mean, they need to ventilate a larger percentage of their lungs already at rest (approximately twice the mammalian mean). This leads to a 3 times higher RR at rest than other mammals. These low respiratory capacities contribute to cattle being less tolerant to heat and more susceptible to respiratory tract infections (Koch and Reinhold 2015; Weekley and Veit 1995).

Moreover, differences between breeds exist; for example, it could be shown that Blue Belgians in particular have smaller lungs compared to their body mass than other cattle species. In addition, in this breed, lower amounts of surfactant-associated proteins could also be detected. These proteins serve to reduce the surface tension of the alveoli allowing an effective gas exchange and preventing alveolar collapse. This explains why Blue Belgian calves suffer more frequently from respiratory diseases than Holstein Friesian calves (Danlois et al. 2003). Furthermore, calves do not reach lung maturity until they weigh 300 kg (which is when they are approximately 1 year old), which makes them particularly susceptible to lung diseases (Reinhold 1997).

In summary, due to their anatomical peculiarities, cattle are predisposed to atelectasis and are more susceptible to respiratory diseases as they are often unable to compensate for diseased lung areas (Gustin et al. 1987). Therefore, monitoring of respiratory parameters especially in cattle is of great relevance.

b) Respiratory infectious diseases

Respiratory infectious diseases in cattle are summarized under the term bovine respiratory disease (BRD) complex. BRD is a multifactorial disease involving environmental factors, immune status, infectious agents as well as management mistakes as triggers (Fiore et al.

9

2022; Smith et al. 2020). BRD plays a fundamental role especially in calves, due to the immune system that is not yet fully developed, but can also lead to pneumonia in maternal cows (Burrows et al. 2022). More than 20 different types of viruses cause bronchitis in cattle, which takes a mild course in very good environmental conditions (including a good barn climate and high antibody titer of calves). Unfortunately, the germ load in the barn is often very high, especially in calves (Koch and Reinhold 2015), due to high occupancy, poor ventilation, and the purchase and sale of calves at large collection points, which come from various farms bringing along a varied germ and immune spectrum (Özbek and Ozkan 2020). This often leads to secondary infections of the lungs with bacteria such as Mannheimia haemolytica, Histophilus somni or Pasteurella multocida, which can cause pneumonia due to the weakened immune system (Santos-Rivera et al. 2021; Timsit et al. 2017). In addition, there are many negative long-term effects in calves with clinical or subclinical pneumonia such as lower daily gains, poorer reproductivity, and shorter longevity (Poulsen and McGuirk 2009; Donovan et al. 1998). An early detection of respiratory symptoms can therefore promote animal health and welfare as well as reduce economic losses. Furthermore, new restrictions in the veterinary medicine regulations in Germany (BMEL 2022) also require mandatory reporting of antibiotic use in dairy cows since 2023. Therefore, a precise selection of the animals to be treated is necessary in order to prevent an overuse of antimicrobials (Ferraro et al. 2021).

Consequently, a thorough recording of respiratory parameters in the stable is fundamental in order to start a therapy quickly, efficiently, and selectively. The main signs for the BRD complex in cattle are nasal discharge, cough, dyspnea, increased RR, ocular discharge, and open mouth breathing (Ferraro et al. 2021). As clinical examination on its own is often not sufficient to diagnose BRD (White and Renter 2009) and to determine the degree of lung lesion with certainty, further diagnostic tools as pulmonary function testing, ultrasonography or analysis of blood gas are beneficial (Baruch et al. 2019; Chernitskiy et al. 2019). Currently also sensor systems, which record the calves behavior to automatically detect sick animals (Carslake et al. 2021), as well as technical breath analysis systems detecting potential biomarkers for BRD (Spinhirne et al. 2004) are gaining in relevance.

c) Heat stress

The optimal temperature zone for cows ranges approximately between - 0.5 and + 20 degrees Celsius. In this temperature range, cows do not have to spend extra energy to cool or heat the body and can easily maintain their physiological body temperature (Herbut et al. 2019; West 2003). However, the exact comfort temperature zone varies individually, as it depends among other factors on lactation and gestation stage, age, and species (Thornton et al. 2022; Atkins et al. 2018; Gauly et al. 2013). Due to predicted climate change, the exposure of cows to heat load will further increase (Gauly et al. 2013) since cows already experience heat stress –

depending on breed and species – at temperatures above 20 degrees Celsius (Thornton et al. 2022) or 25 degrees Celsius (Gauly et al. 2013). Heat stress occurs, when the animal produces more heat than it can release (St-Pierre et al. 2003). Due to heat stress, the milk yield of cattle drops, fertility decreases, due to a reduction in feed intake, daily gains also decline, and the animal becomes more susceptible to diseases (Thornton et al. 2022; Vitali et al. 2009; Silanikove 2000). Generally, multiparous cows are more affected than primiparous (Bernabucci et al. 2014; Holter et al. 1996). Even calves of cows that were in high gestation during heat period can be diagnosed with negative late effects like a different immune response (Strong et al. 2015), lower birth weight, and poorer daily gains (Dado-Senn et al. 2020a) than other calves.

However, in addition to the risks for animal welfare due to heat stress (Kim et al. 2022; Pilatti et al. 2019); the associated global financial losses due to lower milk yield production under a high greenhouse gas emission scenario by the end of the century are enormous (Thornton et al. 2022). Therefore, it is fundamental to develop a reliable heat stress warning system, which activates shading, ventilation, and cooling measures to reduce heat stress at an early stage (Schütz et al. 2009; West 2003).

At the current stage, the temperature-humidity index (THI) is used as a heat stress threshold for the classification of heat stress, originally developed by Thom (1958). The THI takes the ambient temperature and the relative humidity into account (Schüller et al. 2013). An THI threshold of 70 for standing cows and 65 for lying cows can be used as a suitable threshold for heat stress according to the RR (Pinto et al. 2020). It could be shown that at THI values >70, the RR of standing cows increased rapidly (mean RR at breakpoint: 37 bpm) and in lying cows the RR already increased sharply at THI values > 65 (mean RR at breakpoint: 39 bpm). Depending on the source, THI values between 60 and 75 are also mentioned as threshold values (Bohmanova et al. 2007; Ravagnolo et al. 2000).

However, the THI is not an animal-related parameter as it only captures ambient conditions and it has been shown that heat stress predictions based only on THI quantification have led to both under- and overestimate the effects of heat on cows (Atkins et al. 2018; Zimbelman and Collier 2011). Since lying cows experience heat stress earlier than standing ones due to a physiological higher RR at rest (physiological RR for lying cows: 24-50 bpm (Reece and Rowe 2018)), a consideration of the animal individual body posture for a classification of heat stress according to the RR would be useful. Furthermore, there is a correlation between the milk yield and RR. For each additional kilogram of milk, the RR increased by approximately 0.23 bpm. Therefore, cows with a higher milk yield experience heat stress earlier than those with a lower milk production (Pinto et al. 2019). In summary, since the experienced intensity of heat stress is influenced by animal-specific factors such as breed, age, stage, and number of lactation and gestation as well as the body posture (Atkins et al. 2018), an animal-individual recording of respiratory parameters would be useful to allow a more precise and animal-oriented reaction to heat stress.

1.2 Which respiratory parameters are recorded in cattle and what methods are used?

a) External examination of the respiration

Since cattle are obligate nose breathers (Reinhold 2023), mouth breathing is always considered pathological and occurs in association with heat stress, stress, or pain (Schütz et al. 2014). The visual assessment of the bovine RR is optimally performed from obliquely posterior to the right side of the cow, because the rumen is located on the left side, which can cause further flank movements (Baumgartner et al. 2018). The RR is expressed in breaths per minute (bpm) and ranges for a standing dairy cow at rest between 26-35 bpm and for a lying cow between 24-50 bpm. A higher RR in a lying position is due to the fact that the rumen presses against the diaphragm, which leads to an increase of the RR (Reece and Rowe 2018). In addition to the frequency, the quality of breathing, the rhythm, and the type of breathing can also be determined (Baumgartner et al. 2018). Cattle breathe predominantly abdominally with inhalation occurring actively through contraction of the intercostal muscles and lasting about half as long as exhalation through passive contraction of the lungs (Stöber 1990). The ratio between the duration of in- and expiration is recorded as the respiratory time quotient (RTQ) and provides an indication of the type of ventilation disorder (Reinhold 2023). For example, in cases of deeper airway obstruction, the RTQ is increased due to a prolonged inspiration (McKiernan et al. 1993). The current gold standard methods of RR recording are the manual counting of the flank movement as well as the measurement of RR by spirometry (explained in detail under 1.2 b) pulmonary function testing).

Another new approach to record the RR in cattle is an RR sensor developed at the Leibniz Institute for Agricultural Engineering and Bioeconomy e.V. (ATB) in cooperation with the startup company GOUNA (Strutzke et al. 2019) measuring the differential pressure in one nostril during in- and exhaling. A respiration curve can be derived from the pressure differences with positive pressure values corresponding to exhalation and negative pressures to inhalation.

The most recent approaches aim at avoiding animal contact completely in order to affect the normal behavior as little as possible. This includes, for example, infrared thermography (IRT), which is based on the idea of measuring the temperature change of the inhaled and exhaled airflow through the nostrils (Kim and Hidaka 2021; Lowe et al. 2019). Another new approach is a laser distance sensor recording the body movement of the regio abdominis by measuring the distance between laser and cow at certain points (Pastell et al. 2007).

b) Pulmonary function testing

Pneumotachography and ultrasound spirometry have established as gold standard methods in pulmonary function testing for measuring respiratory tract ventilation parameters (Reinhold 2023). These recording methods were originally developed for human medicine and measure the gas flow rate per unit time of the expiratory air. For the application in cattle, a tightly fitting facemask is necessary (Dißmann et al. 2023). These masks were originally used in pediatrics and therefore fit only calves until approximately 120 kg. Under spontaneous breathing, ventilatory parameters such as RR, Vt, respiratory flow rate, and RTQ can be recorded in animals (Reinhold and Fodisch 1993). In the following, the recording of Vt is described in more detail since this dissertation focused on the recording of Vt besides the RR.

The Vt is given in mL or L and is defined as the volume moved per breath during resting breathing. The Vt can be a useful parameter for diagnosing obstructive and restrictive ventilation disorders (Vt decreased). Like RR, Vt is a very sensitive parameter, but it is not specific to the respiratory tract (Reinhold 2023), therefore it must always be interpreted in consideration of other parameters as well. For example, the Vt can be helpful in diagnosing and assessing the degree of latent respiratory failure in calves. Calves with subclinical lung disease show a higher respiratory minute volume (Vmin) under load just like healthy calves, but this increase is only due to a higher RR, because subclinical lung disease calves are not able to increase their Vt under load in contrast to healthy calves (Chernitskiy et al. 2019).

Furthermore, since the Vt depends on body weight, it should always be expressed in mL/kg for enabling comparability between animals. The physiological Vt in calves is approximately 8 - 10 mL/kg (Koch and Reinhold 2015). To measure the Vt, an impulse oscillometry system (IOS) can be used, which consists of a pulse generator, a pleated hose, a pneumotachograph, a pressure sensor, and a Y-piece; the structure and operation have already been described in detail by Reinhold et al. (1998a) and Smith et al. (2005). Measurements with the IOS are particularly suitable for therapy control or for clinical studies in order to record the influence of exogenous agents on the individual animal in follow-up examinations (Reinhold et al. 1998b). For example, Ostermann et al. (2014) studied the pathophysiology of respiratory Chlamydia infection in bovine lungs using the IOS, volumetric capnography, and a re-breathing system. In Publication "B", the IOS was used as the gold standard method to validly record the Vt.

c) Further respiratory diagnostic methods

Besides the external examination of the respiration and pulmonary function testing, there are also other established methods as well as new promising attempts to diagnose respiratory diseases in cattle more precisely:

 Respiratory gas analysis includes the capnography as well as the detection of CO, N₂O, and NO by multipass absorption spectroscopy methods. The analysis of the amount of respired gases cannot only be useful for anesthesia monitoring (Reinhold 2023), but elevated levels of CO and NO can also be detected in asthma and an altered ratio of $N_2O:CO_2$ as well as the amount of exhaled NO may be helpful in the diagnosis of BRD (Burciaga-Robles et al. 2009).

- In the analysis of blood gases and acid-base status, the measurements of partial pressure values such as oxygen (pO₂), carbon dioxide (pCO₂) as well as the pH value in the arterial blood and the alveolar-arterial pO₂ are mainly indicated for the quantification of respiratory insufficiencies (Reinhold and Födisch 1993). In addition, these parameters can also be used, for example, to evaluate barn ventilation systems (Sabuncuoglu et al. 2008). In order to detect latent respiratory insufficiencies, the analysis of blood gases under exercise is widely used, especially in horses, but also possible in calves (Chernitskiy et al. 2019; Höchel 2004).
- In addition, the **analysis of biomarkers** in blood serum is becoming increasingly popular in veterinary medicine for the detection of respiratory diseases. For example, tumor necrosis factor-a, transforming growth factor-ß1, and interleukin-17A could be suitable biomarkers in determining a systemic inflammatory response in infectious pneumonia in calves (Ider and Maden 2022).
- The **ultrasound examination** of the thoracic lung area can be a useful tool to the clinical examination to better assess the severity of an infection of calves with suspected BRD (Fiore et al. 2022; Baruch et al. 2019; Reinhold et al. 2002). Since ultrasonography findings correlate more strongly than clinical findings with pathologic findings, they have a higher sensitivity and specificity for detecting pulmonary disease in cattle. Therefore, they might be more precise in assessing the severity of infection. This is why calves that are evaluated based on clinical scoring alone may be misclassified (Porter et al. 2021).
- The **bronchoalveolar lavage fluid** can be used to identify pathogens and to determine the severity of inflammation (Ider and Maden 2022; Reinhold et al. 2005).
- **Bronchial brushing** is practiced to collect both microbes and cells from the lower respiratory tract. In cattle, it is used to investigate the microbial of the lung (Prohl et al. 2014).
- Electric Impedance Tomography (EIT) is a new approach to identify calves with insufficient lung expansion (Bleul et al. 2021). Therefore, a belt with electrodes is fixed at the calves 6th intercostal space measuring the surface potential after applying current to the electrode pairs. Since the electrical impedance is negatively correlated with increasing intrapulmonary gas volume, the EIT shows dynamic changes in lung ventilation by generating frames of the ventilated lung area (Bleul et al. 2021).

1.3 Objectives of this study

The overall objective of this study was to evaluate common methods for measuring the RR regarding their reliability and to evaluate a new measurement method of the Vt in cattle.

Therefore, the study was divided into two experimental designs that resulted in 2 publications. Paper "A" was focused on the evaluation of different recording methods of the RR and Paper "B" on a new recording method of the Vt.

a) Publication "A"

The common method for recording the RR is to observe the flank movements of cattle for a certain period of time. There are several new approaches to automatically record the RR. However, as gold standard method for the training of an automatic recording system of the RR, the manual observation of the flank is still often the method of choice. Thereby, various recording methods lack a uniform counting system as basis. The counting of the RR for a period of 60 s (Milan et al. 2016), 30 s (Baumgartner et al. 2018) or 15 s (Maia et al. 2014) as well as the counting of 5 (Lowe et al. 2019) or 10 breaths (Stewart et al. 2017) are commonly used in practice. The objective of Paper "A" was to compare these 5 methods regarding their practicability, reliability, and validity, because a uniform recording of the RR is indispensable for a comparability of studies. The hypothesis was that a shorter period of observation increases inaccuracy.

The results of this study were published in Veterinary Research Communications (impact factor: 2.8).

b) Publication "B"

The common method for recoding the Vt in cattle is a pneumotachograph integrated into an IOS (Smith et al. 2005). However, this measurement method requires a breathing mask that must be fixed to the head of the calf, for which a fixation of the calf is necessary. This influences the behavior of the animal and, in addition, the use of the IOS is limited to calves up to approximately 120 kg due to the limited opening diameter of the breathing mask. In addition, it is only possible to record data over a limited period of time. Therefore, the objective of Paper "B" was to find a more efficient method to measure the Vt in calves over a longer period of time without restricting the natural behavior. Currently, the RR sensor (Strutzke et al. 2019) only derives the RR from the pressure difference data. The hypothesis was that a Vt equivalent can be derived from the pressure of the RR sensor as well.

The results of this study were published in Sensors (impact factor: 3.9).

2. Research Publications in Peer-Reviewed Journals

2.1 Publication "A"

How should the respiration rate be counted in cattle?

Lena Dißmann, Julia Heinicke, Katharina Charlotte Jensen, Thomas Amon, Gundula Hoffmann

Veterinary Research Communications, 2022;

Volume: 46

Number: 4

Pages: 1221-1225

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11259-022-09984-7

Submitted: 16 June 2022

Accepted after revisions: 8 August 2022

Published electronically: 17 August 2022

This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the <u>Creative Commons</u> <u>Attribution 4.0 International licence.</u>

RESEARCH



How should the respiration rate be counted in cattle?

L. Dißmann¹ · J. Heinicke¹ · K. C. Jensen² · T. Amon^{1,3} · G. Hoffmann¹

Received: 16 June 2022 / Accepted: 8 August 2022 © The Author(s) 2022

Abstract

Respiration rate (RR) is a proficient indicator to measure the health status of cattle. The common method of measurement is to count the number of respiratory cycles each minute based on flank movements. However, there is no consistent method of execution. In previous studies, various methods have been described, including counting flank movements for 15 s, 30 s or 60 s as well as stopping the time for 5 or 10 breaths. We assume that the accuracy of the aforementioned methods differs. Therefore, we compared their precision with an RR sensor, which was used as the reference method in this study. Five scientists from the fields of agricultural science and veterinary medicine quantified the flank movement according to each of the five methods mentioned above. The results showed that with an average RR of 30 breaths per minute (bpm), all methods showed a high correlation to the values of the RR sensor. However, counting breaths for 60 s had the highest level of conformity with the RR sensor (Lin's concordance correlation coefficient: 0.96) regardless of the level of RR. With rising RR, the inaccuracy increased significantly for the other four investigated methods, especially when counting 5 and 10 breaths. Therefore, we would recommend that counting for 60 s should be used as the standard method for future studies due to its high precision regardless of the level of RR.

Keywords Respiration rate · Method · Respiration rate sensor · Flank movement

Introduction

Respiration rate (RR) is an important parameter to evaluate the health status of cattle since it is an indicator of stress and painful processes (Knickel et al. 2000; Rosenberger 1990) as well as heat exposure (Pinto et al. 2019; Schütz et al. 2014). There are several approaches to automatically record the RR. Some of the most innovative methods are infrared thermography (IRT) techniques based on measuring the temperature change of the inhaled and exhaled airflow through the nostrils

L. Dißmann ldissmann@atb-potsdam.de

- ¹ Department of Engineering for Livestock Management, Leibniz Institute for Agricultural Engineering and Bioeconomy (ATB), Max-Eyth-Allee 100, 14469 Potsdam, Germany
- ² Institute for Veterinary Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Department of Veterinary Medicine, Freie Universität Berlin, Königsweg 67, Building 21, 14163 Berlin, Germany
- ³ Institute of Animal Hygiene and Environmental Health, Department of Veterinary Medicine, Freie Universität Berlin, Robert-von-Ostertag-Str. 7-13, 14163 Berlin, Germany

(Jorquera-Chavez et al. 2019; Kim and Hidaka 2021; Lowe et al. 2019). Additionally, there are sensor systems such as a differential pressure sensor fixed on the nose (Strutzke et al. 2019), a respiration monitoring system strapped to the cow's abdomen as a belt (Eigenberg et al. 2000), a laser distance sensor recording the body movement of the regio abdominis (Pastell et al. 2007) and a sensor measuring air temperature near the nostrils (Milan et al. 2016).

Nevertheless, observing flank movements is still the most common technique in practice to measure the RR and is often used as a reference method for validation of the sensor systems mentioned above. However, there is no clear gold standard in cattle, and we found various methods described in scientific papers. One method is to measure the time until 5 breaths are completed, applied by Kim and Hidaka (2021) and Lowe et al. (2019) as a reference method to analyze the breathing pattern with IRT. Lowe et al. (2019) argues that this method reduces the probability of calf movements during counting.

Another frequent technique is to measure the time until 10 breaths are fulfilled. This method was employed by Stewart et al. (2017) as a reference value for their infrared-based measurements, Schütz et al. (2014) in their study on the influence of different amounts of shade on the RR of cattle in relation to heat load and Li et al. (2020) with regard to the correlation between respiration and rectal temperature as well as the prediction of the RR.

In other studies, the RR measurement was accomplished through a time limit instead of a breath limit. Maia et al. (2014) counted flank movements for 15 s after putting a face mask on cattle to measure the physiological response. The textbook Clinical Propaedeutics of Domestic Animals (Baumgartner et al. 2018) recommends counting at least 30 s of flank movement, also applied by Pinto et al. (2019) in their examination of the influence of climate and circumstantial factors on RR in cows. Jorquera-Chavez et al. (2019), Milan et al. (2016) and Strutzke et al. (2019) counted the RR for 60 s as a reference method for validating their sensor systems.

In the present study, we tested and compared the various methods described (counting 5 and 10 breaths, 15 s, 30 s and 60 s) regarding their agreement with respect to the measured RR of an RR sensor, recently developed in our working group (Strutzke et al. 2019) and used as the reference method in this study. This sensor automatically calculates the RR in the nose during inspiration and expiration. We hypothesize that shorter periods of observation increase inaccuracy. Our aim is to define the most meticulous method for counting RR that should be consistently used in further studies.

Materials and methods

In total, 46 episodes were recorded (Samsung Galaxy Note 10.1, Seoul, South Korea) over one minute each in an experimental barn in Groß Kreutz (Germany) over 2 days in January 2018. In the experiment, six healthy cows differing in age, lactation stage (1st-5th lactation, days in milk: 47–196) and gestation stage (4-80 days) were filmed consistently at a 45-degree angle from behind. The dairy cows were housed in a free-stall barn, equipped with 53 lying cubicles (straw-lime mixture) and were part of an existing herd of 55 cows on the first day and 54 cows on the second day. The animals were able to move freely in the barn during the experiment so as not to restrict their natural behavior. Water and a total mixed ration were freely available. Seven to nine video sequences were taken of each cow during the lying and standing periods (60% lying, 40% standing), with and without ruminating and while dozing (eyes half-closed, without rumination). In addition, each cow was equipped with a respiration rate (RR) sensor attached to a halter (Strutzke et al. 2019). The experimental study using animals was approved by the State Office for Occupational Safety, Consumer Protection and Health (LAVG Brandenburg, Germany) under the study number 2340-1-2018.

Afterward, three veterinarians and two agricultural scientists counted the RR on the basis of the video sequences according to the five methods (5 breaths, 10 breaths, 15 s, 30 s and 60 s) in random order using a smartphone stopwatch app. By means of an LED lamp that lights up briefly at the beginning and end of the recorded minute, the period to be studied was dependably defined. The LED lamps were fixed on the halter of the cows and were synchronized with a marker in the RR sensor recordings (for further details see Strutzke et al. 2019). Only whole breaths were counted, beginning with the inspiration after the first light of each video minute. When counting by breaths, the time was recorded in seconds with two decimals. Values were then extrapolated to breaths per minute (bpm) and compared to the value of the RR sensor.

We compared the five methods regarding their validity (agreement of the measurement results with the RR sensor) and reliability (differences between observers). The number of cases "n" was obtained from the 46 studied videos and multiplied by five (number of observers). First, we determined the mean absolute deviation of the studied methods compared to the RR of the sensor and investigated whether there were differences depending on the level of RR. For this, we used JMP (Version 16.0, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). To assess the agreement between the five different methods and the RR sensor, Lin's concordance correlation coefficient (CCC) (Akoglu 2018) was calculated. To detect differences regarding the reliability, we additionally calculated the CCC for each observer. For the CCC, we used R via the R Studio Interface (Version 4.0.3.; © 2020, The R Foundation for Statistical Computing) and the package "DescTools" (Signorell et al. 2021). Lin's CCC is particularly suitable to measure the agreement of two methods or raters, as it is based on precision (degree of variation) and accuracy (degree of location or scale shift) (Barnhart et al. 2002).

Results and discussion

The results substantiate that counting respiration rate (RR) for 60 s has the lowest mean absolute deviation and therefore the highest level of agreement with the values measured by the RR sensor regardless of the level of RR. Counting for 60 s differed from the RR sensor by an average of 1.8 breaths with a standard deviation of 2.02. The second highest level of agreement can be attributed to counting breaths for 30 s, followed by stopping for 10 breaths (Fig. 1). Up to an RR of 25 bpm, counting 5 breaths was more accurate than counting breaths for 15 s. At a higher RR, counting breaths for 15 s became more accurate than counting 5 breaths. Overall, the deviation from the RR sensor was on average smaller at a low RR and increased with rising RR for all methods,

Fig. 1 Boxplot analysis of the mean absolute deviation of the respiration rate (RR) from the RR sensor by the five investigated methods of counting (n = 230)



except for counting for 60 s. At 60 s, the deviation remained approximately constant regardless of the RR (Fig. 2).

In our experiment, the average RR was 30 bpm; thus, counting 5 breaths corresponded to an average observation time of 10 s, and counting 10 breaths corresponded to an average observation time of 20 s.

Moreover, it was noteworthy that for all methods, the RR was on average underestimated at a low RR and overestimated at a high RR. However, the position of the cow (lying or standing) had no influence on the detectability of the RR, and the mean absolute deviation from the RR sensor was approximately the same for both positions.

Regarding the CCC, all methods achieved a CCC > 0.8 (Table 1). However, there were differences concerning the single methods: the level of agreement of the investigated methods proved to be in the same order as with regard to the mean absolute deviation. There are different approaches for the interpretation of Lin's CCC (Akoglu 2018): According to McBride (2005), only the counting of breaths for 60 s achieved a substantial agreement (0.95–0.99).

Concerning the reliability, the five observers differed only slightly when comparing the CCC of the different methods (Table 1). All five observers reached a substantial agreement



Fig. 2 Mean absolute deviation of the five investigated methods for the respiration rate (RR) sensor against the level of RR (breaths/min) from 46 recordings counted by five observers (n = 230) Table 1Agreement of differentcounting methods for therespiration rate (RR) with themeasurement of an RR sensorusing Lin's concordancecorrelation coefficient (CCC)for all observers (n=230) andfor the best and worst of fiveobservers (n=46)

Method	All observers CCC (LCI-UCI)	Best observer CCC (LCI-UCI)	Worst observer CCC (LCI-UCI)
Counting RR for 15 s	0.84 (0.80-0.88)	0.87 (0.79-0.93)	0.79 (0.66–0.87)
Counting RR for 30 s	0.93 (0.91-0.95)	0.95 (0.91-0.97)	0.90 (0.83-0.94)
Counting RR for 60 s	0.96 (0.95-0.97)	0.97 (0.94-0.98)	0.95 (0.92-0.97)
Stopping time for 5 breaths	0.82 (0.77-0.86)	0.88 (0.80-0.93)	0.78 (0.64-0.87)
Stopping time for 10 breaths	0.90 (0.87-0.92)	0.93 (0.87-0.96)	0.86 (0.77-0.92)

LCI: lower confidence interval, UCI: upper confidence interval

with the RR when counting breaths for 60 s. Therefore, we conclude that the reliability of this method is sufficient.

Overall, the hypothesis that longer observation times result in a more accurate RR measurement was confirmed. Therefore, we would generally recommend using counting for 60 s as the standard method in future studies because it is the most accurate method regardless of the level of RR. An exception are very restless animals, where a longer observation period would distort the results due to cow movements and make counting flank movement more difficult, for example, in calves (Lowe et al. 2019).

Although the average RR in cattle is between 24 and 36 bpm (Rosenberger 1990), RRs of 78 bpm are not unusual in summer (Ruban et al. 2020). At these high RRs, we consider counting 5 or 10 breaths to be too inaccurate due to their short observation time. The accuracy of counting for 15 s and 30 s deteriorated less in our experiment at higher RRs than counting by breaths (Fig. 2). Consequently, for a basic acquisition of RR in daily work in practice, counting breaths for 30 s can be a good alternative to counting for 60 s considering validity, reliability and feasibility (less work).

Nevertheless, when counting 5 and 10 breaths, it is necessary to consider the reaction time in counting the last breath and stopping the stopwatch of the person evaluating the video. Even with rigorously trained researchers, human physical limitations will inevitably influence the study results. Furthermore, when extrapolating up to one minute, the number of breaths must be rounded down as well as up to obtain whole breaths.

In fact, when counting by time, different initial conditions must be considered; when counting for 15 s and then rounding up to one minute by multiplying by 4, logically from the outset, only every fourth value can be obtained as an end result, and when counting for 30 s, only every second value can be obtained. Therefore, we conclude that the counting of breaths for 60 s is the most valid method.

Acknowledgements The authors gratefully acknowledge the staff of the dairy farm at the Agricultural Research and Education Center for Animal Breeding and Husbandry 'Gross Kreutz' in Brandenburg, where the experiments were performed. We would also like to thank S. Strutzke and D. Fiske for providing the videos and the data from the RR sensor. Furthermore, we thank Dr. AlHomoch and M. Jaleta (ATB Potsdam, Germany) for their support evaluating the videos and we appreciate the assistance from Dr. Ammon (ATB Potsdam, Germany) in planning the research project.

Author contributions All authors contributed to the study conception and design. Material preparation, data collection and analysis were performed by L. Dißmann, G. Hoffmann, K. C. Jensen and J. Heinicke. The first draft of the manuscript was written by L. Dißmann and all authors commented on previous versions of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding Open Access funding enabled and organized by Projekt DEAL. Authors L. Dißmann and J. Heinicke have received research support from the German Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture (BMEL) based on a decision of the Parliament of the Federal Republic of Germany, granted by the Federal Office for Agriculture and Food (BLE, grant number: 28DK113A20, 281C207A19) during the preparation of this manuscript.

Data availability The data that support the findings of this study are not openly available due to reasons of sensitivity but are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

Declarations

Competing interests The authors have no relevant financial or non-financial interests to disclose.

Ethics approval The experimental study using animals was approved by the State Office for Occupational Safety, Consumer Protection and Health (LAVG Brandenburg, Germany) under the study number 2340–1-2018.

Consent to participate Informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study.

Consent for publication Not applicable.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

References

- Akoglu H (2018) User's guide to correlation coefficients. Turk J Emerg Med 18:91–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tjem.2018.08.001
- Barnhardt HX, Haber M, Song J (2002) Overall concordance correlation coefficient for evaluating agreement among multiple observers. J Int Biom Soc 58:1020–1027. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0006-341X.2002.01020.x
- Baumgartner W, Christen C, Gauly M, Hildebrandt N, Kölle P, Moritz A, Pees M, Schuh M, Schusser G, Sipos W, Wittek T (2018) General clinical examination procedure (Allgemeiner klinischer Untersuchungsgang): Examination of the thorax (Untersuchung des Thorax). In: Baumgartner W, Wittek T (eds) Clinical propaedeutics of domestic and pet animals (Klinische Propädeutik der Haus- und Heimtiere), 9th edn. Enke, Stuttgart, Germany, p 118
- Eigenberg RA, Hahn GL, Nienaber JA, Brown-Brandl TM, Spiers DE (2000) Development of a new respiration rate monitor for cattle. Trans ASAE 43:723–728. https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.2755
- Jorquera-Chavez M, Fuentes S, Dunshea FR, Warner RD, Poblete T, Jongman EC (2019) Modelling and validation of computer vision techniques to assess heart rate, eye temperature, ear-base temperature and respiration rate in cattle. Animals 9:1089. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/ani9121089
- Kim S, Hidaka Y (2021) Breathing pattern analysis in cattle using infrared thermography and computer vision. Animals 11:207. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11010207
- Knickel UR, Wilczek C, Jöst K (2000) Practical guide to veterinary medicine (Praxis-Leitfaden Tiermedizin). 3rd edn. Schattauer, Stuttgart
- Li G, Chen SY, Chen Y, Peng DD, Gu XH (2020) Predicting rectal temperature and respiration rate responses in lactating dairy cows exposed to heat stress. J Dairy Sci 103:5466–5484. https://doi.org/ 10.3168/jds.2019-16411
- Lowe G, Sutherland M, Waas J, Schaefer A, Cox N, Stewart M (2019) Infrared thermography-a non-invasive method of measuring respiration rate in calves. Animals 9:535. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ani9080535
- Maia AS, Gebremedhin KG, Nascimento ST, Carvalho MD, Simao BR, Camerro LZ, Neto MC (2014) Development of facial masks for indirect calorimetric studies for livestock. ASABE: paper number 141897355. https://doi.org/10.13031/aim.20141897355
- McBride GB (2005) A proposal for Strength-of-Agreement Criteria for Lin.s Concordance Correlation Coefficient. National Institute of Water & Atmospheric Research Ltd, Hamilton

- Milan HF, Maia SC, Gebremedhin KG (2016) Technical note: device for measuring respiration rate of cattle under field conditions. J Anim Sci 94:5434–5438. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2016-0904
- Pastell M, Kaihilahti J, Aisla AM, Hautala M, Ahokas J (2007) A system for contact-free measurement of respiration rate of dairy cows. In: S. Cox (ed) Precision livestock farming '07, Wageningen Academic Publishers, pp 105–109
- Pinto S, Hoffmann G, Ammon C, Amon B, Heuwieser W, Halachmi I, Banhazi T, Amon T (2019) Influence of barn climate, body postures and milk yield on the respiration rate of dairy cows. Ann Anim Sci 19:469–481. https://doi.org/10.2478/aoas-2019-0006
- Rosenberger G (1990) Respiratory system (Atmungsapparat). In: Dirksen G, Gründer H-D, Stöber M (eds) The clinical examination of cattle (Die klinische Untersuchung des Rindes). 3rd edn. Paul Parey, Berlin, pp 249–250
- Ruban S, Borshch OO, Borshc OV, Orischuk O, Balatskiy Y, Fedorchenko M, Kachan A, Ziochevskiy M (2020) The impact of high temperatures on respiration rate, breathing condition and productivity of dairy cows in different production systems. Anim Sci Pap Rep 38:61–72
- Schütz KE, Cox NE, Tucker CB (2014) A field study of the behavioral and physiological effects of varying amounts of shade for lactating cows at pasture. J Dairy Sci 97:3599–3605. https://doi.org/ 10.3168/jds.2013-7649
- Signorell A, Aho K, Alfons A et al (2021) DescTools: tools for descriptive statistics. R package version 0.99.41. https://cran.r-project. org/package=DescTools. Accessed 04.04.2022
- Stewart M, Wilson MT, Schaefer AL, Huddart F, Sutherland MA (2017) The use of infrared thermography and accelerometers for remote monitoring of dairy cow health and welfare. J Dairy Sci 100:3893–3901. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2016-12055
- Strutzke S, Fiske D, Hoffmann G, Ammon C, Heuwieser W, Amon T (2019) Development of a noninvasive respiration rate sensor for cattle. J Dairy Sci 102:690–695. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds. 2018-14999

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

2.2 Publication "B"

Evaluation of a Respiration Rate Sensor for Recording Tidal Volume in Calves under Field Conditions

Lena Dißmann, Petra Reinhold, Hans-Jürgen Smith, Thomas Amon, Alisa Sergeeva and Gundula Hoffmann

Sensors MDPI

Volume: 23

Issue: 10

Article Number: 4683

DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/s23104683

Submitted: 2 March 2023

Submitted revised: 3 May 2023

Accepted: 8 May 2023

Published electronically: 12 May 2023

This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the <u>Creative Commons</u> <u>Attribution 4.0 International licence.</u>





Article Evaluation of a Respiration Rate Sensor for Recording Tidal Volume in Calves under Field Conditions

Lena Dißmann ^{1,*}^(D), Petra Reinhold ², Hans-Jürgen Smith ³, Thomas Amon ^{1,4}^(D), Alisa Sergeeva ⁵^(D) and Gundula Hoffmann ¹^(D)

- ¹ Department Sensors and Modeling, Leibniz Institute for Agricultural Engineering and Bioeconomy (ATB), Max-Eyth-Allee 100, 14469 Potsdam, Germany
- ² Institute of Molecular Pathogenesis, "Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut" (Federal Research Institute for Animal Health), Naumburger Str. 96a, 07743 Jena, Germany
- ³ Research in Respiratory Diagnostics, Bahrendorfer Straße 3A, 12555 Berlin, Germany
- ⁴ Department of Veterinary Medicine, Institute of Animal Hygiene and Environmental Health, Freie Universität Berlin, Robert-von-Ostertag-Str. 7-13, 14163 Berlin, Germany
- ⁵ System Modeling Group, Institute for Veterinary Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Freie Universität Berlin, Königsweg 67, 10117 Berlin, Germany; sergeea99@zedat.fu-berlin.de
- * Correspondence: ldissmann@atb-potsdam.de

Abstract: In the assessment of pulmonary function in health and disease, both respiration rate (RR) and tidal volume (Vt) are fundamental parameters of spontaneous breathing. The aim of this study was to evaluate whether an RR sensor, which was previously developed for cattle, is suitable for additional measurements of Vt in calves. This new method would offer the opportunity to measure Vt continuously in freely moving animals. To measure Vt noninvasively, the application of a Lilly-type pneumotachograph implanted in the impulse oscillometry system (IOS) was used as the gold standard method. For this purpose, we applied both measuring devices in different orders successively, for 2 days on 10 healthy calves. However, the Vt equivalent (RR sensor) could not be converted into a true volume in mL or L. For a reliable recording of the Vt equivalent, a technical revision of the RR sensor excluding artifacts is required. In conclusion, converting the pressure signal of the RR sensor into a flow equivalent, and subsequently into a volume equivalent, by a comprehensive analysis, provides the basis for further improvement of the measuring system.

Keywords: tidal volume; pressure; respiration rate sensor; spirometry; impulse oscillometry system

1. Introduction

Cattle are predisposed to diseases of the respiratory tract due to the morphological and anatomical peculiarities of their lungs [1,2]. This is mainly due to the strong segmentation of the lungs compared to other animal species, the lack of collateral ventilation pathways, and the reduced gas exchange capacity of the lungs, as there are fewer pulmonary capillaries per alveoli unit. In consequence, a larger part of the lungs must be ventilated at rest, which leads to less available ventilatory reserves. Thus, a failure of individual lung areas will result in shortness of breath more rapidly than in other animal species [3].

Furthermore, in relation to their body mass, cattle possess a lower total lung volume and a smaller alveolar surface area compared to other animal species. These peculiarities in lung anatomy have significant consequences for pulmonary functions in terms of spontaneous ventilation. For example, a cow of 500 kg has a tidal volume (Vt) of approximately 3800 mL (which corresponds to a Vt of approximately 8 mL/kg body weight), while a horse of a similar weight (550 kg) has a Vt of approximately 6000 mL or 11 mL/kg body weight [4]. Vt is the volume of air inspired and expired during one respiratory cycle, and its measurement allows conclusions about the functionality of the lungs [5]. To compensate for physiologically based lower Vt, cattle must have a higher respiration rate (RR) at rest than other animal species [1,6].



Citation: Dißmann, L.; Reinhold, P.; Smith, H.-J.; Amon, T.; Sergeeva, A.; Hoffmann, G. Evaluation of a Respiration Rate Sensor for Recording Tidal Volume in Calves under Field Conditions. *Sensors* **2023**, 23, 4683. https://doi.org/10.3390/ s23104683

Academic Editor: Suresh Neethirajan

Received: 2 March 2023 Revised: 3 May 2023 Accepted: 8 May 2023 Published: 12 May 2023



Copyright: © 2023 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). Since bovines do not reach postnatal lung maturity before they have gained a body weight of approximately 300 kg, young animals are particularly susceptible to diseases of the respiratory tract [2]. Therefore, a lot of research has been published on the study of pulmonary diseases in calves and to diagnose them early [7–10]. Besides the analysis of biomarkers in the blood [11,12], also ultrasonic methods [13–15] and different sensors [16,17] have been tested as diagnostic methods.

To detect pulmonary disorders in calves at an early stage, it is fundamental to monitor the spontaneous breathing pattern. In addition to recording RR (i.e., breaths per minute (bpm)), Vt is a vital parameter in pulmonary function diagnostics. That Vt is a parameter worth measuring in calves has been proven in studies to quantify respiratory symptoms [18,19] or to assess the effects of therapies [20]. It is a well-known phenomenon that calves suffering from pneumonia show significantly lower Vt and higher RR than healthy calves [21,22]. Since Vt is inevitably associated with RR, a higher RR usually compensates for a lower Vt to avoid hypoventilation and to maintain the supply of oxygen to the organism [5].

Several noninvasive methods are available for measuring RR and Vt in animals. RR could simply be counted by observation; however, this requires personnel, time, and thorough quietness in the surrounding to avoid stress for the animals. In 2018, an RR sensor for cattle was developed at the Leibniz Institute for Agricultural Engineering and Bioeconomy that can derive the RR from the pressure difference between inhaled and exhaled breath in one nostril [23]. Most advantageous, this device is suitable for use in freely moving animals under field conditions. Moreover, a complete new non-contact approach to measure RR is infrared thermography using the temperature difference between inhaled and exhaled air to automatically record the RR in calves and adult cattle [24,25]. However, there is not yet a market-ready, universally applicable solution for this method.

Spirometry is another well-known method to assess both RR and Vt. Spirograms can easily be registered in spontaneously breathing animals wearing a tightly fitting facemask (fitting to the size of the animal's head, thus ensuring low dead space). Since a facemask is mandatory to connect the spirometer in front of the animal's head, this method cannot be used in freely moving animals. One of the best-validated methods for pulmonary function testing in calves is the impulse oscillometry system (IOS) [26,27]. The system includes spirometric measurements as well. Since the IOS was originally developed for human medicine, it has been applicable to calves with body weights comparable to those of adult humans. Under experimental conditions, IOS has been proven to measure RR and Vt in calves with high accuracy [21,22] (and can therefore be regarded as the gold standard method. The aim of this study was to evaluate whether the previously developed RR sensor could be expanded to measure Vt as well. This new measurement method would offer the possibility to assess the two main variables of the spontaneous breathing pattern continuously in the field without the necessity of connecting a facemask or fixation of the animals to be monitored. According to our conceptual goal, the high frequency pressure values (50 Hz) measured by the RR sensor should be converted into airflow and volume equivalents to ultimately compare them to the real flow and volume measured by the IOS. The physiological Vt for calves is approximately 8–10 mL/kg [6,11]. This proof-of-principle study focused on calves since IOS measurements are limited to bovines with body weights below 120 kg.

The paper is structured as follows: Sections 2 and 3 describes the methodology as well as the statistical analysis of the sensor data. Section 4 presents the results. Afterward, the results are discussed in Section 5. Finally, the conclusion is reported in Section 6.

2. Animals, Materials and Methods

2.1. Study Design

The animal testing took place at a research farm (Groß Kreutz, Germany) on two consecutive days in April 2022. The testing was approved by the State Office for Occupational Safety, Consumer Protection and Health (LAVG Brandenburg, Potsdam, Germany) under the study number: V6-2340-12-2022 (day of permission: 25 February 2022).

Selection criteria for the calf's inclusion in the testing were clinical health and a maximum weight of 80 kg, since the mask does not fit larger animals. Clinical health was ensured by a veterinarian before the habituation process and repeated before animal testing. The clinical examination included the measurement of rectal temperature, examination of the lymph node and mucosal status, capillary refill time, lung and heart auscultation (including determination of RR and heart rate), and assessment of general condition. Ten clinically healthy calves (aged between 4 and 65 days on the first day of the experiment) were included. Using a sample size estimation tool [28], a case number of 10 calves was necessary to prove a correlation of at least 0.8 [29] of the respiratory parameters between the sensors with an α level of 0.05 and a power of 80%. These α and β levels are commonly used in other clinical studies as well [30]. Body weight ranged from 52 to 79 kg. Three weeks before the testing, the habituation process began (with the exception of the 2 calves that were 4 days old at the start of the testing) while each calf was equipped with the facemask once per week for 5 min. Measurements of spontaneous breathing were performed using two devices on each calf in a randomized order. On Day I, measurements with the RR sensor preceded IOS-measurements and vice versa on Day II. All measurements were performed in standing animals with a standardized, slightly stretched head position. Ambient conditions on the two consecutive days were comparable (Day I: ambient temperature 10 °C, relative humidity 51%; Day II: ambient temperature 11 °C, relative humidity 55%).

2.2. Measurements with the RR Sensor

First, the calf to be measured was equipped with a foal halter to which the power bank and the RR sensor were attached and connected over a USB cable (Figure 1). The dimensions of the RR sensor with the microcontroller (Gouna, Brandenburg, Germany) were 46 mm \times 15 mm \times 25 mm (length \times width \times height). The RR monitor included a sensor, microcontroller, and silicon tube, with a total weight of 45 g, plus a power bank (capacity 2600 mAh) weighing 60 g (Varter Consumer Batteries GmbH, Ellwangen, Germany). The power bank allows continuous recording of the pressure for about 6 h. However, the RR sensor is not waterproofed, so it must be removed after a short measurement period [23]. A flexible silicone tube with an inner diameter of 2 mm lead from the sensor to the nostrils where it was fixed with a nose ring and intruded 1 cm into the nasal cavity of the right nostril to transmit the recorded pressure to the RR sensor (Figure 1). The pressure was recorded continuously during inspirations and expirations over a period of 5 min per calf and the data were stored on a secure digital memory card. Since it was the first measurement with the RR sensor in calves, there were no prior comparable studies, which could have been used as a guide regarding the length of the measurement. The aim was to measure as close in time as possible with both measuring devices, but still collect valid measurement data. Experiences from individual test measurements before the actual testing have shown that 5 min is sufficient to collect valid data from the calves. Afterward, the device was cleaned with particular attention to ensure that the tube of the RR sensor was free of contamination from the inside before each new test to avoid possible measurement distortions due to liquids in the tube (e.g., from sneezing).

2.3. Measurements with the IOS

The application of the IOS to the head of a calf is shown in Figure 2. The technical design of this device and the careful evaluation of pulmonary function testing in this animal species have been described elsewhere [26,27]. For IOS data, a heated pneumotachograph (Lilly-type, mesh resistance: 36 Pa L⁻¹ s) connected to a differential pressure transducer (SensorTechnics SLP 004D, Puchheim, Germany) ensured continuous measurement of airflow. At flow rates < 15 L s⁻¹, the pneumotachograph is linear within 2%. Volume was gained from the flow signal by calculating an integral from airflow during each inspiration or expiration. The results are given as volume curves over time (Figure 3).

Three consecutive measurements were registered per calf per day (each included at least 10 regular breathing cycles free of artifacts) lasting on average 24 s per measurement. The number of measurements was based on previous performed studies with the IOS in calves [21]. Read-out variables were: RR (IOS), Vt (IOS), and the minute volume of respiration (Vmin (IOS)) calculated with the formula:

 $Vmin(IOS) = RR(IOS) \times Vt(IOS)$



Figure 1. Respiration rate sensor fixed on the calf's nostrils with a nose ring.



Figure 2. Impulse oscillometry system adapted to a tightly fitting rigid facemask.



Figure 3. Impulse oscillometry system (IOS): Three consecutive measurements (each measurement is represented by a different color) of the tidal volume (difference between maximum and minimum of the Volume in L) and the respiration rate (in breaths per minute) of one calf registered by the IOS.

2.4. Data Evaluation (RR Sensor)

First, we selected sequences of the recorded 5 min periods where the calves had breathed regularly and evenly for at least 5 breaths in succession (constant frequency and constant amplitude). Since one dataset of the RR sensor from one calf was not readable, 19 datasets from both devices were included. At least 2 to a maximum of 5 sequences of the RR sensor per calf and day were selected for the evaluation, resulting in a total of 59 selected periods included in the evaluation.

Subsequently the pressure data were adjusted according to an exponential smoothing formula [31]. Afterward, the inhalation cycle was adjusted to body temperature and pressure saturated (BTPS) conditions converting inhaled pressure samples measured under ambient conditions to the condition in the lung. This kind of conversion is required to exclude measurement distortions due to ambient temperature and humidity [32]. Consequently, the obtained pressure represented the flow equivalent, with exhalation generating positive pressure and inhalation generating negative pressure (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Respiration rate (RR) sensor: Pressure registration of the RR sensor corresponding to the flow equivalent after smoothing and adjusting the inhalation cycle to body temperature and pressure saturated (BTPS) conditions. Exhalation is associated with a positive pressure and inhalation with a negative pressure.

Second, we integrated the pressure values to obtain the volume equivalent [33] (Figure 5). In addition, a baseline correction was performed to compensate for the shift



of the zero point (Smith, personal communication) which is caused by an insufficient BTPS-approximation.

Figure 5. Respiration rate sensor: Integrated pressure curve corresponding to the tidal volume equivalent.

Afterward, the difference between the maximum and minimum pressure of each inand exhalation was calculated representing the Vt equivalent (Figure 6). Subsequently, since the data were not normally distributed, the median of all Vt equivalents for each of the 59 selected periods was calculated for the RR sensor. Moreover, the RR for each data period as well as the respiratory minute volume (Vmin) equivalent was calculated by multiplying the Vt equivalent by the RR.



Figure 6. Respiration rate (RR) sensor: Tidal volume equivalent of the RR sensor after baseline correction.

3. Statistical Analysis

The dataset consisted of two different sensor systems, on the one hand the IOS as the gold standard and on the other hand the RR sensor as the new application method. For the statistical evaluation, we analyzed three parameters of each sensor system: RR, Vt, and Vmin. In total, we had 59 selected sequences for the RR sensor (2–5 measurements per calf and day) and 54 observations for the IOS (2–3 measurements per calf and day). We tested the raw variables for normality using the Shapiro Wilk test from "scipy" python3 package and the alpha level was selected as 0.05 [34]. Since most parameters (except Vt equivalent (RR sensor)) were not normally distributed, the median, minimum, as well as maximum and quartiles were calculated for each parameter.

3.1. Sensor Calibration

Since the RR sensor uses a different algorithm of measurement, which likely causes a systematic mistake in the results, the systematic mistake was removed by performing a sensor calibration. This mistake can be easily found in the plots with raw results (Figures 7–12). The observations, taken from the same animal, however, were slightly moved along one of the axes (along RR or IOS sensor), which gave an idea of a systematic mistake in the device. Therefore, an individual correction factor based on the mean values across the two days of observation was calculated to remove the systematic mistake [35]. For example, if the mean values across one calf were equal to 25 bpm in the RR sensor and 27 bpm in the IOS sensor, for this calf, the correction factor was 25/27, which is approximately 0.93. Then, in all the RR observations from the RR sensor, we would multiply the raw RR values by 0.93, and this new value is calibrated. We applied the same procedure to each measured parameter.



Figure 7. Scatter diagram showing the raw respiration rate (RR) measured by the impulse oscillometry system (IOS) and the RR sensor (n = 46). The data of the individual calves are marked with different colors.



Figure 8. Scatter diagram showing the calibrated RR measured by the IOS and the RR sensor (n = 46). The data of the individual calves are marked with different colors.



Figure 9. Scatter diagram showing the tidal volume (Vt) measured by the IOS and the raw Vt equivalent of the RR sensor (n = 46). The data of the individual calves are marked with different colors.



Figure 10. Scatter diagram showing the Vt measured by the IOS and the calibrated Vt equivalent of the RR sensor (n = 46). The data of the individual calves are marked with different colors.

The formula below describes the calibration process, where x is the RR sensor observation, μ RR is the mean value of the RR sensor parameter, and μ IOS is the mean value of the IOS parameter:

correction factor =
$$\frac{\mathbf{x} \cdot \boldsymbol{\mu} \text{IOS}}{\boldsymbol{\mu} \text{RR}}$$

After the calibration was done, the plots started to show some correlation pattern, which were further analyzed.



Figure 11. Scatter diagram showing the minute volume (Vmin) measured by the IOS and the raw Vmin of the RR sensor (n = 46). The data of the individual calves are marked with different colors.



Figure 12. Scatter diagram showing the Vmin measured by the IOS and the calibrated Vmin of the RR sensor (n = 46). The data of the individual calves are marked with different colors.

3.2. Z-Score Transformation

Due to a different unit system in the sensors, we faced the problem of measurements incompatibility and applied Z-score transformation (standardization) to all measurements. We calculated the mean value and standard deviation for every measured parameter separately (RR, Vt, and Vmin) and transformed the raw values to the Z-scores, so that 95% of observations were placed between -2 and +2. That helped comparing the values in the Z-Score unit system [36].

The Formula below describes the Z-score standardization (x_z), where x is the observation value, μ is the mean value of the parameter, and σ is the standard deviation of the parameter:

$$x_z = \frac{x - \mu}{\sigma}$$

3.3. Normality Testing

To decide which statistical approach (parametric or non-parametric tests) to use, we also tested the calibrated variables for the normality using the Shapiro Wilk test from "scipy" python3 package [34] and selected α level as 0.05. Since only the calibrated Vt (RR sensor) was normally distributed, we chose the non-parametric approach further.

3.4. Non-Parametric Test

Due to lack of normally distributed parameters, we used two-tailed Wilcoxon and two-sample Kolmogorov–Smirnov tests to investigate whether the observations from two sensors (RR sensor and IOS) were taken from the same distribution or not [37,38]. Therefore, the null hypothesis was that the observations had the same source. The alternative one was that they had different origins.

We analyzed all values we had (standardized by z-score transformation 54 observations for the IOS and 59 for the RR sensor) from all calves and both days. We compared the parameters as pairs (RR, Vt, and Vmin from both sensors), resulting in 46 observations for every parameter; after removing not completed observations, we also compared both raw and calibrated values. The two-tailed Wilcoxon and two-sample Kolmogorov–Smirnov tests were performed using "scipy" pyhton3 package with basic parameters.

The α -level was selected using Bonferroni correction from "statmodels" python3 package with "not-sorted" setting, and it was 0.0167 [39].

3.5. Correlations

Since the data were not normally distributed (see Section 3.3 Normality Testing), we performed the Spearman correlation test using "scipy" python3 package for both raw and calibrated data. In addition, we performed the Spearman test for medians per animal and medians per animal per day [38].

Moreover, we also analyzed the correlation between Vt and RR for each sensor separately to analyze whether the sensor systems showed the same characteristics with changing RR.

4. Results

The calf's recorded RR was similar for both devices ranging between 19 and 82 bpm, while the Vt of the IOS varied from 6.64 mL/kg to 14.29 mL/kg body mass and the Vt equivalent of the RR sensor ranged from 6 to 60 (an equivalent is unit-free) (Table 1). After the calibration process, the range of the RR sensor values was closer to the values of the IOS and therefore, better comparable to each other.

Table 1. Raw parameters of respiration rate (RR), tidal volume (Vt), and minute volume (Vmin) of RR sensor (n = 59) and impulse oscillometry system (IOS) (n = 54).

Parameter	Unit	Min	0.25	Median	0.75	Max
RR (RR sensor)	breaths per min (bpm)	19	30	36	47	82
Vt equivalent (RR sensor)	unit-free	6	15	19	30	60
Vmin equivalent (RR sensor)	unit-free	260	529	762	1079	1946
RR (IOS)	bpm	20	31	34	40	71
Vt (IOS)	mL	425	600	700	773	1000
Vmin (IOS)	L	18	21	24	27	45
Vt/kg (IOS)	mL/kg	6.64	7	11.11	12.38	14.29

Since the calibration coefficients, calculated from the median per calf of the RR sensor and IOS, were inhomogeneous between the single calves (RR: 0.66–1.27, Vt: 19–71 and Vmin: 0.02–0.06), we used the median in the following statistical evaluation.

The two-tailed Wilcoxon test did not show a significant difference neither between raw values nor between calibrated values (Table 2). Therefore, we cannot reject the null hypothesis, that both sensors took their measurements from the same distribution. The Kolmogorov–Smirnov test was used as a second method, which also did not show any significant difference between RR and IOS sensors (*p*-value for all parameters > 0.8). The Wilcoxon test showed that the differences inside the groups (RR sensor and IOS) did not significantly differ from the differences between groups, which can partly show that the sensor observations were taken from the same distribution.

Table 2. *p*-values of the Wilcoxon test for raw and calibrated parameters between respiration rate (RR) sensor and impulse oscillometry system (IOS) of all observations (n = 46).

Parameter	<i>p</i> -Value	Difference
Raw RR (RR sensor) and RR (IOS)	0.7291	No
Raw Vt (RR sensor) and Vt (IOS)	0.9914	No
Raw Vmin (RR sensor) and Vmin (IOS)	0.9655	No
Calibrated RR_(RR sensor) and RR (IOS)	0.8596	No
Calibrated Vt and Vt (IOS)	0.8288	No
Calibrated Vmin and Vmin (IOS)	0.768	No

Vt = tidal volume; Vmin = minute volume.

After applying the Bonferroni correction, our conclusion did not change because our p values were much higher than α level.

A correlation between the raw data of both measurement systems was not visible (Spearman correlation coefficient (CC): 0.1~0.37). However, once we added the information about systematic mistakes in the RR sensor (calibration), the correlation in RR and Vt became clearer across the whole dataset without extracting medians from them (Table 3, all observations, Spearman CC: 0.2~0.48). The most obvious correlations were found in medians per animal (Spearman CC > 0.9, *p*-value < 0.05 in RR and Vt). However, in Vmin, the *p*-value did not provide statistical significance (*p*-value > 0.05) [38].

Table 3. Spearman correlations between respiration rate (RR) sensor and impulse oscillometry system (IOS) for all observations (n = 46) and median per calf (n = 10) after calibration process.

Parameter	Number of Cases	Spearman Correlation	p Value
RR_calibrated (RR sensor) and RR (IOS)	all observations ($n = 46$)	0.4813	0.0007
	Median per calf ($n = 10$)	0.9515	0.000022799
Vt_calibrated (RR sensor) and	all observations ($n = 46$)	0.3709	0.0112
Vt (IOS)	Median per calf ($n = 10$)	0.9142	0.0002
Vmin_calibrated (RR sensor) and	all observations ($n = 46$)	0.2246	0.1334
Vmin (IOS)	Median per calf ($n = 10$)	0.5636	0.0897

RR = respiration rate; Vt = tidal volume; Vmin = minute volume.

In summary, a strong correlation (Spearman CC > 0.9) between the sensors was only achieved for the median per calf of RR and Vt, but not when comparing all raw observations [29].

In addition, we investigated the Spearman CC between Vt and RR for both sensor systems separately, to analyze if they show the same characteristics. It is already known from the literature that a high RR (shallow breathing) is associated with a lower Vt and vice versa [5]. As demonstrated in Table 4, there was a significant negative correlation for the raw and for the calibrated RR sensor data as well as for the IOS data. Thus, the Vt equivalent showed the same characteristics with changing RR like the Vt (IOS) since the Vt equivalent increased with decreasing RR.

Table 4. Spearman correlation between respiration rate (RR) and tidal volume (Vt) of the impulse oscillometry system (IOS) (n = 54) as well as between RR and Vt equivalent of the RR sensor (n = 59).

Parameter	Spearman Correlation	<i>p</i> -Value
RR and Vt equivalent (RR sensor)	-0.513	0.0003
Calibrated RR and Vt equivalent (RR sensor)	-0.4621	0.0012
RR and Vt (IOS)	-0.5438	0.000094007

5. Discussion

The primary objective of this study was to investigate whether a valid Vt parameter could be extracted from the pressure signal measured by the RR sensor. Our results indicate that a flow equivalent as well as a Vt equivalent could be derived from the pressure (RR sensor). In addition, a high correlation between the calibrated RR (RR sensor) and the RR (IOS) as well as between the calibrated Vt equivalent (RR sensor) and the Vt (IOS) for the median per calf was shown. However, the Vt equivalent could not be converted into a true volume given in mL or L because the correlation between the raw data when facing all observations of both measurement systems was too low [29].

In summary, this study showed in detail how the RR sensor can be used in calves and how the pressure can be converted into a Vt equivalent. The Vt equivalent performed simultaneously with the Vt (IOS) since both are negatively correlated with the RR. The study can serve as a basis for future research in the field of lung function diagnostics in calves. Furthermore, it also points out the necessary technical improvements that have to be performed on the RR sensor to reliably record the Vt. If these technical adaptions were implemented, it would also be possible to develop such a diagnostic tool for adult cattle as well. At the current state of the art, the Vt of adult cattle can only be determined with a facemask [40] or estimated by equations from respiratory data [41] in order to detect heat stress at an early stage. Measuring the real Vt in adult cattle without a facemask would be an improvement in the lung function diagnostic. Since the study took place under real field conditions and was the first attempt to determine the Vt using an RR sensor, it would be the first RR sensor capable of measuring the two main respiratory parameters in freely moving animals under field conditions without restrictions on normal behavior.

Compared to assessing pulmonary functions by using the IOS or other spirometers in individual animals, the RR sensor can be worn for a longer period without the need for a prior habituation process. Furthermore, simultaneous recording of RR and Vt would be possible in a larger number of animals due to less personnel and resource requirements. This non-invasive approach of data recording is also an advantage over other methods of lung examination, such as ultrasound [13–15] and blood sampling [11,12], where a fixation of the calf is mandatory. The IOS was used as the gold standard because (i) it had previously been thoroughly evaluated for pulmonary function testing in calves, and (ii) it is suitable for the assessment of spirometric parameters of spontaneous breathing. Respiratory impedance as the main measure provided by IOS was not taken into account in this study, which focused on the measurement of RR and Vt. In the present study, the measured Vt values of the calves were within the physiological range since the reference values for calves are approximately 8–10 mL/kg [6,21].

Limitations and Future Research

Despite the habituation process, the calves were partially nervous during the experiment, as evidenced by hyperventilation (RRs up to 82 bpm), taking into account that the physiological RR for calves ranges from 20 to 30 bpm [5,18]. Therefore, a simultaneous measurement of the two devices would be useful to allow a direct comparison between the continuous readings as well as a longer habituation period. Unfortunately, simultaneous measurement with both devices was not possible in our animal testing due to the lack of space under the facemask for the RR sensor. Furthermore, unsteady movements of the calves as well as moisture in the hose of the RR sensor (caused by sneezing) led to an influence of the pressure because the membrane of the RR sensor reacts very sensitively to changes in the environmental conditions. As a result, it became partly difficult to distinguish between physiological recorded pressures and artifacts.

In addition, we determined that reliable measurements with the RR sensor are only technically possible with calves from approximately 1 week of life onwards. The fixation of the nose ring in very young calves (up to approximately 4 days old) was not optimal, since it slips easily which also influences the pressure. Furthermore, the membrane of the RR sensor is subject to pressure fluctuations of 0.06%, which corresponds to approximately 0.03 mbar, thus the pressure can never be recorded with 100% accuracy [42].

The statistical results indicate that the RR sensor can replace the IOS in the future. Since the data showed a high correlation between the RR sensor and IOS for the calibrated RR and VT for the median per calf, the RR sensor seems to be a promising replacement. Regardless, the two-tailed Wilcoxon and Kolmogorov–Smirnov tests showed no significant difference between the two sensors; we did not have enough evidence to talk about sensors replacement validity yet because only the median per calf showed a high correlation between the two sensors. Therefore, at least 2–5 observations per calf of the RR sensor as well from the IOS were necessary to find the calibration coefficient, which provided a high Spearman CC and good significance.

Moreover, to replace the gold standard method, it is necessary to find the accurate algorithm, which would recalculate the results of the RR sensor in the unit-free system into mL. Therefore, it must be taken into account that the data in our study were very specific for this age and breed, as it is influenced, among other factors, by the diameter of the nostrils. For an accurate and valid approximation of the calves' Vt across all breeds and ages, it is necessary to expand the number of cases with calves differing in age, breed, weight, and environmental conditions.

However, a prior revision of the RR sensor would be required to reliably record the pressure without artifacts and to finally achieve a possible higher correlation in the raw observations. Therefore, the following technical improvements to the RR sensor would be necessary: an installation of a position sensor to ensure that only measurements are recorded when the calf is at rest and does not make restless head movements. This technical adaption would have the advantage that artifacts would automatically be absent. In addition, it would be useful to be able to record the pressure in both nostrils to exclude pressure changes due to calves' movements and pathological unilateral nasal constriction due to fluid accumulation. Moreover, it would also contribute to the precision of the data (as well be a huge reduction in workload) if the evaluation steps that we have manually performed to convert the pressure into a Vt equivalent were automatically integrated by the RR sensor. This would practically mean to automatically take into calculation the BTPS correction based on temperature and humidity measurements, smoothing of the data, as well as automatic integration of the pressure values and finally calculating the difference between maximum and minimum pressure in each breath.

Furthermore, a waterproof cover with a longer battery life (currently approximately 6 h) would be useful, enabling the RR sensor to be worn during drinking and thus over an even longer period of time. There is already a market-ready RR sensor from Gouna [43] available, which is water-resistant and allows RR measurement in cows over approximately 6 months. However, this is only adapted for cows and would need to be made smaller and lighter for calves. In addition, the market ready RR sensor only records the RR and no longer outputs the individual pressure differences, which is why it is not suitable for recording the Vt equivalent without complete revision.

The outlined technical adaptions of the RR sensor would essentially simplify the measurement method of Vt for the future because the RR sensor does not impair the normal behavior of the animals (no mask is required) and can be used at all ages from young calves to adult cattle.

In summary, it can be stated that before further animal testings are performed, a technical revision of the RR sensor is necessary (in particular: an installation of a position sensor, a waterproof cover, measurements in both nostrils, and a longer battery life). Moreover, the development of a larger facemask would be required to install the RR sensor under the facemask and therefore allow a simultaneous measurement with both devices. If these technical improvements were implemented, a testing on calves differing in age, breed, weight, and environmental conditions would be useful to develop a reliable algorithm converting the Vt equivalent into volume in mL.

6. Conclusions

This study demonstrated how to convert the pressure of the RR sensor into a flow equivalent and subsequent volume equivalent by a comprehensive analysis. It could be shown that the pressure (RR sensor) behaved synonymously with the flow (IOS) and that the median of the calibrated Vt equivalent of the RR sensor per calf showed a high correlation with the Vt of the IOS. Thus, the RR sensor appears to be fundamentally suitable as a measurement parameter of the Vt. However, the Vt equivalent (RR sensor) could not be converted into a true volume in mL or L because the correlation between the raw data was too low. This proof-of-principle study provided the basis for further research focusing on technical adaptations of the RR sensor to determine reliable Vt data in parallel to RR and to develop a market-ready device.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, L.D., G.H., P.R. and H.-J.S.; methodology, L.D., G.H., P.R. and H.-J.S.; software, L.D., A.S. and H.-J.S.; validation, L.D., H.-J.S., P.R. and G.H.; formal analysis, L.D., A.S. and H.-J.S.; investigation, L.D., H.-J.S., P.R. and G.H.; resources, L.D., H.-J.S., P.R. and G.H.; data curation, L.D. and A.S.; writing—original draft preparation, L.D.; writing—review and editing, L.D., P.R., G.H., H.-J.S., A.S. and T.A.; visualization, L.D. and A.S.; supervision, G.H. and T.A.; project administration, L.D. and G.H.; funding acquisition, G.H. and T.A. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by the German Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture (BMEL) based on a decision of the Parliament of the Federal Republic of Germany, granted by the Federal Office for Agriculture and Food (BLE), grant number: 28DK113A20 (project KAMI).

Institutional Review Board Statement: The animal study protocol was approved by the State Office for Occupational Safety, Consumer Protection and Health (LAVG Brandenburg, Germany) under the study number V6-2340-12-2022 on the 25 February 2022.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: The data that support the findings of this study are not openly available due to reasons of sensitivity but are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

Acknowledgments: The authors gratefully acknowledge the staff of the dairy farm at the Agricultural Research and Education Centre for Animal Breeding and Husbandry (LVAT, Groß Kreutz, Germany) where the animal study was performed. We appreciate the great support of Heinicke and Fromm during the animal testing. Moreover, we thank Wille and Fiske for their assistance evaluating the RR sensor data.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest. The funders had no role in the design of the study; in the collection, analyses, or interpretation of data; in the writing of the manuscript; or in the decision to publish the results.

References

- 1. Veit, H.; Farrel, R. The anatomy and physiology of the bovine respiratory system relating to pulmonary disease. *Cornell Vet.* **1978**, *68*, 555–581. [PubMed]
- 2. Gustin, P.; Bakima, M.; Art, T.; Lekeux, P.; Lomba, F. Pulmonary function values and growth in belgian white and blue double-muscled cattle. *Res. Vet. Sci.* **1988**, 45, 405–410. [CrossRef]
- 3. Weekley, L.B.; Veit, H.P. Potential morphologic and physiological factors that may predispose the bovine lung to respiratorydisease. *Compend. Contin. Educ. Pract. Vet.* **1995**, *17*, 974–982.
- 4. Gros, G. Respiration. In *Physiology of Domestic Animals*; Engelhardt, W.v., Breves, G., Eds.; Enke: Stuttgart, Germany, 2000.

- 5. Reece, W.O.; Rowe, E.W. The respiratory system. In *Functional Anatomy and Physiology of Domestic Animals*, 5th ed.; John Wiley & Sons: Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2018.
- 6. Koch, C.; Reinhold, P. Gesunde lungen für gesunde kälber und leistungsfähige milchkühe. Die Milchprax. 2015, 49, 20–25.
- 7. Puig, A.; Ruiz, M.; Bassols, M.; Fraile, L.; Armengol, R. Technological tools for the early detection of bovine respiratory disease in farms. *Animals* **2022**, 12, 2623. [CrossRef]
- Cramer, C.; Ollivett, T.L. Behavior assessment and applications for brd diagnosis: Preweaned dairy calves. *Anim. Health Res. Rev.* 2020, 21, 188–191. [CrossRef]
- 9. Wisnieski, L.; Amrine, D.E.; Renter, D.G. Predictive modeling of bovine respiratory disease outcomes in feedlot cattle: A narrative review. *Livest. Sci.* 2021, 251, 104666. [CrossRef]
- 10. Bleul, U.; Wey, C.; Meira, C.; Waldmann, A.; Mosing, M. Assessment of postnatal pulmonary adaption in bovine neonates using electric impedance tomography (eit). *Animals* **2021**, *11*, 3216. [CrossRef]
- Ider, M.; Maden, M. Biomarkers of infectious pneumonia in naturally infected calves. Am. J. Vet. Res. 2022, 83, ajvr.21.10.0172. [CrossRef]
- Martin, M.; Kleinhenz, M.D.; Montgomery, S.R.; Blasi, D.A.; Almes, K.M.; Baysinger, A.K.; Coetzee, J.F. Assessment of diagnostic accuracy of biomarkers to assess lung consolidation in calves with induced bacterial pneumonia using receiver operating characteristic curves. J. Anim. Sci. 2022, 100, skab368. [CrossRef]
- 13. Masset, N.; Assié, S.; Herman, N.; Jozan, T.; Herry, V. Ultrasonography of the cranial part of the thorax is a quick and sensitive technique to detect lung consolidation in veal calves. *Vet. Med. Sci.* **2022**, *8*, 1229–1239. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 14. Fiore, E.; Lisuzzo, A.; Beltrame, A.; Contiero, B.; Gianesella, M.; Schiavon, E.; Tessari, R.; Morgante, M.; Mazzotta, E. Lung ultrasonography and clinical follow-up evaluations in fattening bulls affected by bovine respiratory disease (brd) during the restocking period and after tulathromycin and ketoprofen treatment. *Animals* **2022**, *12*, 994. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 15. Porter, M.M.; McDonald, P.O.; Slate, J.R.; Kreuder, A.J.; McGill, J.L. Use of thoracic ultrasonography to improve disease detection in experimental brd infection. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 2021, *8*, 763972. [CrossRef]
- 16. Carslake, C.; Vázquez-Diosdado, J.A.; Kaler, J. Machine learning algorithms to classify and quantify multiple behaviours in dairy calves using a sensor: Moving beyond classification in precision livestock. *Sensors* **2021**, *21*, 88. [CrossRef]
- 17. Sun, D.; Webb, L.; van der Tol, P.P.J.; van Reenen, K. A systematic review of automatic health monitoring in calves: Glimpsing the future from current practice. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 2021, *8*, 761468. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Collie, D.D.S. Pulmonary-function changes and clinical findings associated with chronic respiratory-disease in calves. *Br. Vet. J.* 1992, 148, 33–40. [CrossRef]
- 19. Chernitskiy, A.; Shabunin, S.; Kuchmenko, T.; Safonov, V. On-farm diagnosis of latent respiratory failure in calves. *Turk. J. Vet. Anim. Sci.* **2019**, *43*, 707–715. [CrossRef]
- 20. Lawnick, U.; Reinhold, P.; Doll, K. The therapeutic effect of inhalation of hypertonic saline solution in calves with bronchopneumonia. *Tierarztl. Prax. Ausg. Grosstiere/Nutztiere* 2005, *33*, 373–382. [CrossRef]
- 21. Ostermann, C.; Linde, S.; Siegling-Vlitakis, C.; Reinhold, P. Evaluation of pulmonary dysfunctions and acid–base imbalances induced by chlamydia psittaci in a bovine model of respiratory infection. *Multidiscip. Resp. Med.* **2014**, *9*, 10. [CrossRef]
- 22. Lohr, M.; Prohl, A.; Ostermann, C.; Diller, R.; Greub, G.; Reinhold, P. Effect of parachlamydia acanthamoebae on pulmonary function parameters in a bovine respiratory model. *Vet. J.* **2016**, *213*, 9–15. [CrossRef]
- 23. Strutzke, S.; Fiske, D.; Hoffmann, G.; Ammon, C.; Heuwieser, W.; Amon, T. Technical note: Development of a noninvasive respiration rate sensor for cattle. *J. Dairy Sci.* **2019**, *102*, 690–695. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 24. Lowe, G.; Sutherland, M.; Waas, J.; Schaefer, A.; Cox, N.; Stewart, M. Infrared thermography-a non-invasive method of measuring respiration rate in calves. *Animals* **2019**, *9*, 535. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 25. Kim, S.; Hidaka, Y. Breathing pattern analysis in cattle using infrared thermography and computer vision. *Animals* **2021**, *11*, 207. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 26. Reinhold, P.; Smith, H.J.; Close, R.; Genicot, B.; Lekeux, P. Validation of impulse oscillometry in friesian and blue belgian calves with respect to changes in extrathoracic upper airway resistance. *Res. Vet. Sci.* **1998**, *65*, 93–101. [CrossRef]
- 27. Smith, H.; Reinhold, P.; Goldman, M. Forced oscillation technique and impulse oscillometry. Eur. Respir. Monogr. 2005, 31, 72–105.
- Correlation Coefficient Using Z-Transformation. Sample Size Estimation—Correlation. Available online: https://cuhk.edu.hk (accessed on 30 March 2022).
- 29. Sedgwick, P. Spearman's rank correlation coefficient. BMJ 2014, 349, g7327. [CrossRef]
- 30. Lachin, J.M. Introduction to sample size determination and power analysis for clinical trials. *Control. Clin. Trials* **1981**, *2*, 93–113. [CrossRef]
- 31. Fraebel, Y. The Exponential Smoothing 1st Order; University of Applied Sciences: Munich, Germany, 2019; p. 10.
- 32. Rossier, P.H.; Bühlmann, A.; Wiesinger, K. Appendix: Formulas, correction factors, reagents, tables. In *Physiolgy and Pathophysiology* of *Respiration*; Springer: Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, 1958.
- Meyberg, K.; Vachenauer, P. Differential- and integral calculus, vector- and matrix calculus. In *Higher Mathematics 1*, 5th ed.; Springer: Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, 1999.
- Razali, N.M.; Yap, B.W. Power comparisons of shapiro-wilk, kolmogorov-smirnov, lilliefors and anderson-darling tests. J. Stat. Model. Anal. 2011, 2, 21–33.

- 35. Jovanov, E.; Raskovic, D.; Hormigo, R. Thermistor-based breathing sensor for circadian rhythm evaluation. *Biomed. Sci. Instrum.* **2001**, *37*, 493–497.
- 36. Patro, S.G.; Sahu, D.-K.K. Normalization: A preprocessing stage. Int. Adv. Res. J. Sci. Eng. Technol. 2015, 2, 20–22. [CrossRef]
- 37. Divine, G.; Norton, H.J.; Hunt, R.; Dienemann, J. A Review of Analysis and Sample Size Calculation Considerations for Wilcoxon Tests. *Anaesth. Analg.* **2013**, *117*, 699–710. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Berger, V.; Zhou, Y. Kolmogorov–Smirnov test: Overview. In *StatsRef: Statistics Reference Online*; John Wiley and Sons: Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2014.
- 39. Armstrong, R.A. When to use the bonferroni correction. Ophthalmic Physiol. Opt. 2014, 34, 502–508. [CrossRef]
- Zhou, M.; Huynh, T.T.T.; Koerkamp, P.; Dixhoorn, I.; Amon, T.; Aarnink, A.J.A. Effects of increasing air temperature on skin and respiration heat loss from dairy cows at different relative humidity and air velocity levels. *J. Dairy Sci.* 2022, 105, 7061–7078. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 41. Berman, A. Estimates of heat stress relief needs for Holstein dairy cows. J. Anim. Sci. 2005, 83, 1377–1384. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Sensor, F. Hdi Series Amplified Pressure Sensors. Available online: https://www.first-sensor.com/de/produkte/drucksensoren/ drucksensoren-mit-verstaerktem-ausgangssignal/hdi/ (accessed on 18 January 2023).
- 43. Gouna. Available online: https://www.gouna.tech/#features (accessed on 24 April 2023).

Disclaimer/Publisher's Note: The statements, opinions and data contained in all publications are solely those of the individual author(s) and contributor(s) and not of MDPI and/or the editor(s). MDPI and/or the editor(s) disclaim responsibility for any injury to people or property resulting from any ideas, methods, instructions or products referred to in the content.

3. Discussion and Outlook

3.1 Application of Sensor Systems for the recording of respiratory parameters

a) Respiration rate

The RR is a very sensitive parameter closely related to the physiological health status of the cow (Shu et al. 2021), but it can also change quickly (Tresoldi et al. 2019) and is susceptible to short-term variability. Therefore, continuous recording methods of the RR are more reliable than short-term recordings (Atkins et al. 2018).

In human medicine, commercially available RR monitors (e.g., SP1, Spire, San Francisco, Cal.) are already obtainable for long term observation, which are placed around the patient's chest like a belt and record pressure changes during inspiration. However, these are of limited use for cows as they measure a maximum of 30 bpm (AL-Khalidi et al. 2011) and the RR of cattle can rise to values above 70 bpm in summer (Ruban et al. 2020; Pinto et al. 2019). A similar system has already been developed for the application in cattle by Eigenberg et al. (2000) and Atkins et al. (2018). In addition, the previous mentioned RR sensor developed by Strutzke et al. (2019) is another new measurement method to detect the RR continuously in cows.

However, non-contact methods are currently gaining more relevance, because they do not restrict the animal's normal behavior and one sensor may be used for several cows. Moreover, no battery charging is needed, the loss of devices is limited and no fixation of the animals is necessary reducing stress for cows as well as the risk of work accidents for farmers (Shu et al. 2021; Neethirajan 2020; Halachmi et al. 2019). Visual images of the flank are mainly used (Wu et al. 2020), but a laser distance sensor (Pastell et al. 2007) or a frequency modulated continuous wave radar based system (Tuan et al. 2022) are also suitable for non-invasive recording of the RR.

Similarly, in our current research project "Artificial intelligence for measuring respiration in dairy cows" (KAMI), we are investigating in cooperation with the University of Hildesheim, the Dida Data Science GmbH and the Educational and Experimental Center for Animal Breeding and Husbandry (LVAT, Groß Kreutz, Germany) whether it is possible to automatically measure the RR in cows using artificial intelligence. On the one hand, we use an infrared camera (FLIR A65, 45°, Wilsonville) measuring the temperature change between in- and exhaling in the area of the nostrils. On the other hand, a depth camera (D455e RealSense, Intel Corporation, Santa Clara, USA) records the flank movements of the cow by continuously measuring the distance between flank and camera. A successful outcome of one of these new automatic measurements, would significantly simplify the recording of the RR over a longer period of time.

In human medicine, depth cameras have already been successfully tested for RR monitoring on infants (Cenci et al. 2015). However, a major advantage when monitoring infants is that they remain in the supine position, which means that artefacts caused by movement occur less frequent than in cattle. In cows, it is a challenge to distinguish between flank movements generated by the RR and other movements of the cow. In addition, the camera is fixed in one place, which is why the distance between cow and camera can vary depending on the cows position (Tuan et al. 2022). In cows, depth cameras have been successfully tested to record the reticulo-ruminal motility (Song et al. 2019), but not for RR recording to my knowledge.

Infrared thermography (IRT) has already been proofed as possible RR measurement tool for cows as well as for calves (Lowe et al. 2019; Stewart et al. 2017), but there is still a lack of a market-ready variant that automatically records the RR and integrates the information directly into an existing herd management systems. The fundamental principle is to measure the temperature change during in- and exhalation by recording the maximum temperature in the area of Interest (AOI), in this case, the region of the nostrils. Afterwards, the maximum values are extracted in a curve and the RR is calculated by the time duration between two peaks (Figure 1). One challenge for the development of a market-ready device is currently the positioning of the IRT camera. In our study, one infrared camera can cover a maximum of 3 cubicles and therefore a large number of cameras would be needed to cover all cows in the barn. The high costs per camera (over EUR 10,000) and the feasibility of installing that many cameras (data linkage, power consumption, number of power sockets) may prevent an implementation in practice. In addition, cows stand more during heat stress (Nordlund et al. 2019; Heinicke et al. 2018; Cook et al. 2007), which limits the recording in the lying cubicles during heat stress periods.



Figure 1. Infrared thermography image tracking the Area of Interest (AOI) (here nostrils) and extracting the highest temperature peaks in a breathing curve (Source: ATB and University of Hildesheim, 2023)

A recording of the RR in the milking robot was not possible. The cows are fed with concentrated feed preventing the nostrils from being visible. In addition, the representability of a recorded RR during feeding and milking is questionable, because the RR should be recorded at rest

(Baumgartner et al. 2018). As an example, Pastell et al. (2007) demonstrated that a longer milking time leads to a higher RR.

Since the RR is a good indicator for heat stress (Tresoldi et al. 2019; Gaughan et al. 2000) a completely new approach is to predict the RR based on environmental and cow related factors, that are easier to record than the RR itself (Janni et al. 2023; Dado-Senn et al. 2020b; Li et al. 2020). However, as many factors such as milk yield, lactation stage, age, temperature, health status, or position (lying or standing) have an influence on the RR (Pinto et al. 2019; Heinicke et al. 2018) predictive models depend on a great amount of reliable data from many cows over the whole day (Shu et al. 2023). Moreover, RR might even depend on the individual management system of the barn (i.e. feeding or milking time slots) (Hart et al. 2013). Since current training of prediction models do not yet use continuously recorded RR, their usefulness is limited to those certain time periods, which increases uncertainty (Li et al. 2020). Furthermore, a residual uncertainty remains due to variables that are related to heat stress but cannot be measured (Becker et al. 2021).

Regardless of whether a model aims to estimate the RR or a sensor system records the RR, as gold standard method the RR should be counted for 60 s, as this is the most accurate method according to Dißmann et al. (2022). For example Li et al. (2020) or Stewart et al. (2017) have instead determined the time of 10 flank movements, which is another possibility, but not as accurate as counting respiratory cycles for 60 s and with increasing RR it becomes even less accurate (Dißmann et al. 2022).

In summary, non-invasive visual techniques for automatic recording of the RR in cattle are currently gaining more importance as predictive models for estimating the RR to measure heat stress (Shu et al. 2021). There are already models that can estimate heat stress by predicting the RR with high accuracy (Shu et al. 2023), but their accuracy can be improved if more animal-related parameters are taken into account (Becker et al. 2021) and by continuously recording the RR as reference method (Li et al. 2020). Consequently, continuous recording methods are needed on the one hand, to train models that predict RR to detect heat stress, and on the other hand, recording the RR can serve as a useful early indicator for disease and discomfort in cattle. While animal-mounted sensors such as the RR sensor by Strutzke et al. (2019) are suitable for continuously recording of the RR of individual animals, camera systems aim to non-invasively record the RR of many cows per day in real-time by using one sensor system.

b) Tidal volume

The Vt is one of the fundamental parameters of respiratory function diagnostics and a useful indicator to evaluate lung diseases as well as necessary to measure part of the heat loss of the cow caused by the respiratory tract (Reinhold 2023; Zhou et al. 2022). Measuring the Vt,

to accurately determine heat loss in cattle, is gaining more and more interest due to climate change, because it can help to adjust and to evaluate cooling mechanisms (Maia et al. 2005; Beede and Collier 1986).

As Publication "B" has shown (Dißmann et al. 2023), it is currently not possible to measure the Vt continuously and without a facemask in calves. The required technical adaptations to measure Vt reliably with the RR sensor (Strutzke et al. 2019) have been described in detail in Dißmann et al. (2023). To measure heat loss in cows, Zhou et al. (2018) and Maia et al. (2005) used facemasks adapted to the head size of cows to record the Vt, which, however, also requires prior fixation of the animal and does therefore not allow continuous measurement of the Vt.

In human medicine, there are already initial attempts to measure relative Vt by means of IRT in addition to RR (Lewis et al. 2011). The fundamental principle here is to integrate the thermal signal in order to achieve a Vt correlate. In cattle, no such attempts have yet been made to my knowledge. The challenges in cattle will probably be to find a suitable reference method measuring the Vt simultaneously and to record sufficient data of different Vt's, since unlike in humans, it is not possible to ask a cow to breathe slowly, quickly or deeply. In human medicine, they use a respiratory inductance plethysmograph sensor that can be fixed around the thorax (Lewis et al. 2011; Wilhelm et al. 2003). This could serve as a template for similar applications in cattle in the future.

Another new approach is to predict heat loss based on mathematical models estimating besides the RR also the Vt. Thereby, only measurements of ambient conditions (Maia et al. 2005; McGovern and Bruce 2000) or additional animal specific data served as data for the prediction model (Maia et al. 2008; Berman 2005). Maia et al. (2008) showed that considering physiological parameters in a model could improve its accuracy. Furthermore, Maia et al. (2005) demonstrated in earlier studies that while RR correlates closely with ambient temperature, Vt correlates more closely with RR than with ambient conditions. Consequently, a measurement or estimate of RR is useful to calculate Vt better than by only ambient conditions. Berman (2005) did not measure the Vt for his model, but estimated it using body weight based on a formula by Hales and Findlay (1968) for Holstein cows. Although there is a strong correlation between Vt and bodyweight (Koch and Reinhold 2015), under heat stress individual animals show a different increase in RR depending on milk quantity, lactation stage, age or cow position (Heinicke et al. 2021; Pinto et al. 2019). Since Vt correlates with RR (Maia et al. 2005), it can also differ between individuals of similar weight. Therefore, measuring the real Vt as a reference method for developing a thermal balance simulation model is preferable.

To sum up, the Vt can currently only be measured with a facemask. To avoid this rather complex measurement method, especially for the investigation of heat loss in cattle, there are

42

already approaches to estimate Vt using body weight or RR instead. However, more measurements of Vt from different breeds and body weights under heat stress are necessary to build up a reliable data set. For this approach, a simpler and more practical method to measure Vt in cattle would be useful. In Publication "B", the necessary technical improvements to reliably measure the Vt with the RR sensor are already listed. Another possibility would be to use IRT cameras for this purpose in the future, as has already been tested in human medicine.

3.2 Relevance of pulmonary function testing in future research

The milk yield per cow and year has increased on average in Germany by more than 2,000 kg, from 6,208 kg/year in 2000 to 8,499 kg/year in 2022 (BMEL 2023). Since a high amount of energy is needed for the production of milk and since, about 35 % of the consumed energy is converted into heat, the produced heat amount increases with raising milk yield (Jentsch et al. 2001). In addition, climate change also leads to an increase in heat stress in cattle due to higher ambient temperatures (Thornton et al. 2022; Gauly et al. 2013).

Therefore, strategies to counteract heat stress in cattle are becoming more and more important in future: On the one hand, the measurement of respiratory parameters can be used in the future to record more precisely the heat stress load (RR measurement, determination of heat loss through respiration) and thereby improve the effectiveness of cooling measures (Zhou et al. 2022; Beede and Collier 1986). The produced heat, which can be released over the respiration (20-30 %), can be reliable determined by measuring the RR and the Vt determined (Zhou et al. 2022). On the other hand, pulmonary function testing should receive more attention in future breeding strategies (Beede and Collier 1986). In fact, since O₂ consumption correlates with energy metabolism (Gallivan et al. 1989) the continuous increase in milk yield has greatly increased the consumption of O₂. However, the number of pulmonary capillaries per alveolar unit is already at rest lower in cattle than in other species (Reinhold 1997). Therefore, an increase in performance leads to a decrease of the bovine physiological gaseous exchange reserve capacity (Veit and Farrel 1978). Besides the selection of heat tolerant breeds based on panting score (Adamczyk et al. 2013; Gaughan et al. 2010) or a slick hair phenotype (Sosa et al. 2021; Dikmen et al. 2014), the recording of RR and Vt can be additionally valuable to identify heat-tolerant breeds and genotypes within a species (Maia et al. 2008). Therefore, more research is required using pulmonary function diagnostics to examine the heat tolerance of different breeds and cross breeds (Veit and Farrel 1978).

4. Conclusion

In Conclusion, recording of respiratory parameters in cattle is fundamental to detect heat stress and respiratory disease at an early stage, because cattle are predisposed to diseases of the respiratory tract due to their lung anatomy. In addition, the RR is suitable as a general animal welfare indicator, as it reacts very sensitively to pain and stress. The Vt is also necessary to determine respiratory heat loss. Sensors are already available for automatic and continuous recording of RR, but currently non-invasive recording methods such as camera systems are becoming more important, because they do not restrict the animal's normal behavior. They are as well more efficient since one sensor may be used for more animals instead of one sensor per animal. Regardless of which method is used, the RR should be counted for 60 s, as this is the most accurate method according to Publication "A". For the recording of Vt, a facemask is currently still necessary, requiring a fixation of the animals during recording. In Publication "B", the necessary technical adaptions to measure the Vt by a RR Sensor, are described in detail. To avoid time-consuming recording of RR and Vt, these parameters may also be predicted based on mathematical models using other animal and environmental parameters. In order to increase the model's accuracy, however, it is necessary to record more animal related parameters that influence the breathing and to use continuously recorded RR data as reference method. According to heat stress, the recording of RR and Vt can also be valuable in the future to identify heat-tolerant breeds and genotypes within a species.

5. Summary

The respiration rate (RR) is a suitable parameter for assessing the health status of cattle, as it is very sensitive for detecting stress or pain, and thus shows an indisposition in animals at an early stage. Furthermore, it is a suitable parameter for the early detection of heat stress, which becomes increasingly important due to climate change. In order to determine the proportion of heat emitted through respiration, an additional measurement of the tidal volume (Vt) is necessary. The measurement of Vt is also suitable to assess the performance of the lungs and allows conclusions about respiratory and lung diseases. The gold standard methods for both parameters are time consuming and can also influence the behavior of the cow. Counting the cow's flank movements is often used as the method of choice for recording RR. However, different methods are found in literature regarding duration and type of counting. While in some studies, the RR was counted for 5 or 10 breaths and then extrapolated to 60 s, other authors counted the RR for 15, 30 or 60 s. In order to determine which method is the most precise, Publication "A" compared the 5 methods mentioned above. The reference method used was an RR sensor that reliably measures the RR based on the pressure difference between inhalation and exhalation. In Publication "A", it was shown that counting the RR for 60 s is the most accurate method and that as the RR increases, the inaccuracy of the other methods continues to increase compared to counting for 60 s. Since a facemask has to be fitted around mouth and nostrils to measure Vt, the second fundamental parameter in lung function diagnostics, by a pneumotachograph, the animals have to be restrained during the entire experiment and since the behavior is severely restricted by the mask, only short measurement periods are possible. Therefore, the driving force for Publication "B" was to investigate whether it is possible to derive a Vt equivalent from the measured pressure of the RR sensor. A successful outcome would greatly simplify the measurement method, as the animals only have to be fixed for measurements with the RR sensor and can then move freely in the barn, making longer measurements possible. However, it was shown in Publication "B" that technical adaptations to the RR sensor are necessary in order to be able to reliably determine the Vt equivalent. Furthermore, there are approaches in human medicine to determine a relative Vt using infrared thermography, which can also be used to calculate the RR based on the temperature difference of the inhaled and exhaled air. The trend in livestock research is similar - sensors attached to the animal are being replaced by contactless systems for data acquisition. The main advantages of this alternative is that one sensor can record multiple animals and no animal fixation is needed to attach the sensors, which also reduces the risk of injury to humans. For this reason, we are currently testing infrared as well as depth cameras at ATB in cooperation with the University of Hildesheim, the Dida Data Science GmbH, and LVAT as part of the KAMI project (Artificial intelligence for measuring respiration in dairy cows).

The aim of future studies is to use artificial intelligence and imaging techniques to automatically record the RR and integrate this parameter into existing herd management systems.

6. Zusammenfassung

Erfassungsmethoden von Atemwegsparametern beim Rind

Die Atmungsfrequenz (RR) ist ein geeigneter Parameter Bewertung zur des Gesundheitszustandes von Rindern, da sie ein sehr sensibler Indikator zur Erkennung von beispielsweise Stress oder Schmerzen ist und somit eine Indisposition bei Tieren in einem frühen Stadium zeigt. Darüber hinaus ist sie ein geeigneter Parameter frühzeitigen Erkennung von Hitzestress, deren Bedeutung aufgrund zur des Klimawandels immer mehr zunimmt. Um den Anteil an Wärme zu bestimmen, der durch die Atmung abgegeben wird, ist ein zusätzliches Messen des Atemzugvolumens (Vt) erforderlich. Die Messung des Vt's ist außerdem geeignet, um die Leistungsfähigkeit beurteilen und lässt Rückschlüsse auf der Lunge zu Atemwegsund Lungenerkrankungen zu. Die Goldstandardmethoden für beide Kenngrößen sind zeitaufwendig und können darüber hinaus das Verhalten der Kuh beeinflussen. Die Zählung von Flankenbewegungen der Kuh wird häufig als Methode der Wahl für die Erfassung der RR verwendet. In der Literatur finden sich jedoch verschiedene Methoden bezüglich Dauer und Art der Zählweise. Während in manchen Studien die RR für 5 oder 10 Atemzüge gezählt wurde und anschließend auf 60 s hochgerechnet wurde, zählten andere Autoren die RR für 15, 30 oder 60 s. Um zu ermitteln, welches die genauste Methode ist, wurden in der ersten Veröffentlichung die zuvor genannten 5 Methoden verglichen. Als Referenzmethode wurde dabei ein RR Sensor verwendet, der die RR anhand der Druckdifferenz von Ein- und Ausatmung verlässlich erfasst. In der Veröffentlichung A konnte gezeigt werden, dass das Zählen der RR für 60 s die genaueste Methode ist und mit steigender RR die Ungenauigkeit der anderen Methoden im Vergleich zum Zählen von 60 s weiter zunimmt. Da für das Messen des Vt's, dem 2. fundamentalen Parameter in der Lungenfunktionsdiagnostik, eine Atemmaske um das Flotzmaul angebracht werden muss, müssen die Tiere während des gesamten Versuchs fixiert sein und da das Verhalten durch die Maske stark eingeschränkt ist, sind nur kurze Messperioden möglich. Deswegen war die Triebfeder für die Publikation "B" zu untersuchen, ob man anhand des gemessenen Drucks des RR Sensor auch ein Vt Äquivalent ableiten kann. Dies würde die Messmethode stark vereinfachen, da die Tiere für Messungen mit dem RR Sensor nur zur Anbringung fixiert werden müssen und sich dann frei im Stall bewegen können, sodass auch längere Messungen möglich sind. Jedoch konnte in Publikation "B" gezeigt werden, dass noch technische Adaptionen am Sensor notwendig sind, um das Vt Äquivalent verlässlich bestimmen zu können.

47

Darüber hinaus gibt es bereits in der Humanmedizin Ansätze ein relatives Vt durch Infrarotthermographie zu bestimmen. Diese kann auch genutzt werden, um anhand des Temperaturunterschieds der ein- und ausgeatmeten Luft die RR zu berechnen. Ähnlich ist auch die Tendenz in der Nutztierforschung - Sensoren die am Tier angebracht werden, werden zunehmend durch kontaktlose Systeme zur Datenerfassung ersetzt. Denn der Vorteil letzterer ist, dass ein Sensor mehrere Tiere erfassen kann und keine Einzeltierfixierung zur Anbringung der Sensoren notwendig ist, was auch das Verletzungsrisiko für den Menschen reduziert. Deswegen testen wir aktuell am ATB im Projekt KAMI (Künstliche Intelligenz zur Erfassung der Atmung bei Milchkühen) zusammen mit der Uni Hildesheim, der Dida Datenschmiede GmbH und der LVAT, Infrarot- und Tiefenkameras, um die RR automatisch zu erfassen. Ziel zukünftiger Studien ist es mittels Künstlicher Intelligenz und bildgebender Verfahren die RR automatisch zu erfassen und in bestehende Herde Management Systeme zu integrieren.

7. References

Adamczyk K, Pokorska J, Makulska J, Earley B, and Mazurek M (2013): Genetic analysis and evaluation of behavioural traits in cattle. Livest. Sci. 154, 1-12. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2013.01.016.

AL-Khalidi F Q, Saatchi R, Burke D, Elphick H, and Tan S (2011): Respiration rate monitoring methods: A review. Pediatr. Pulmonol. 46, 523-529. doi: 10.1002/ppul.21416.

Atkins I K, Cook N B, Mondaca M R, and Choi C Y (2018): Continous Respiration Rate Measurement of Heat-Stressed Dairy Cows and Relation to Environment, Body Temperature, and Lying Time. Trans. Asabe 61, 1475-1485. doi: 10.13031/trans.12451.

Baruch J, Cernicchiaro N, Cull C A, Lechtenberg K F, Nickell J S, and Renter D G (2019): Performance of multiple diagnostic methods in assessing the progression of bovine respiratory disease in calves challenged with infectious bovine rhinotracheitis virus and Mannheimia haemolytica. J. Anim. Sci. 97 6, 2357-2367.

Baumgartner W, Christen C, Gauly M, Hildebrandt N, Kölle P, Moritz A, Pees M, Schuh M, Schusser G, Sipos W, and Wittek T (2018): General clinical examination: Examination of the thorax (Allgemeiner klinischer Untersuchungsgang: Untersuchung des Thorax). In: Clinical Propaedeutics of Domestic Animals and Pets (Klinische Propädeutik der Haus- und Heimtiere)/ Ed.: W. Baumgartner and T. Wittek, 9. Edition, pp. 118-136 Stuttgart: Enke – ISBN 978-3-13-240276-8

Becker C A, Aghalari A, Marufuzzaman M, and Stone A E (2021): Predicting dairy cattle heat stress using machine learning techniques. J. Dairy Sci. 104, 501-524. doi: 10.3168/jds.2020-18653.

Beede D and Collier R (1986): Potential nutritional strategies for intensively managed cattle during thermal stress. J Anim Sci. J. Anim. Sci. 62. doi: 10.2527/jas1986.622543x.

Berman A (2005): Estimates of heat stress relief needs for Holstein dairy cows. J. Anim. Sci. 83, 1377-1384. doi:

Bernabucci U, Biffani S, Buggiotti L, Vitali A, Lacetera N, and Nardone A (2014): The effects of heat stress in Italian Holstein dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 97, 471-486. doi: 10.3168/jds.2013-6611.

BLE (2003) Milk yield per cow in Germany in the years 1900 to 2022 (in kilograms) (Milchleistung je Kuh in Deutschland in den Jahren 1900 bis 2022 (in Kilogramm)) Accessed on: 15.08.2023 10:15

https://de.statista.com/statistik/daten/studie/153061/umfrage/durchschnittlicher-milchertragje-kuh-in-deutschland-seit-2000/

Bleul U, Wey C, Meira C, Waldmann A, and Mosing M (2021): Assessment of Postnatal Pulmonary Adaption in Bovine Neonates Using Electric Impedance Tomography (EIT). Animals 11.

doi: 10.3390/ani11113216.

BMEL (2022): Act amending the Veterinary Medicinal Products Act to collect data on antibiotically active medicinal products and amending other provisions (Gesetz zur Änderung des Tierarzneimittelgesetzes zur Erhebung von Daten über antibiotisch wirksame Arzneimittel und zur Änderung weiterer Vorschriften).

Legislative resolution of the Lower House of German Parliament (Gesetzesbeschluss des Deutschen Bundestages) 23.12.2022

Geändert durch Art. 2 Abs. 3 G v. 20.12.2022 I 2752

Accessed on: 17th of April 2023 https://www.gesetze-im-internet.de/tamg/BJNR453010021.html

Bohmanova J, Misztal I, and Cole J B (2007): Temperature-Humidity Indices as Indicators of Milk Production Losses due to Heat Stress. J. Dairy Sci. 90, 1947-1956. doi: 10.3168/jds.2006-513.

Burciaga-Robles L O, Holland B P, Step D L, Krehbiel C R, McMillen G L, Richards C J, Sims L E, Jeffers J D, Namjou K, and McCann P J (2009): Evaluation of breath biomarkers and serum haptoglobin concentration for diagnosis of bovine respiratory disease in heifers newly arrived at a feedlot. Am. J. Vet. Res. 70, 1291-1298. doi: 10.2460/ajvr.70.10.1291.

Burrows D, Slavic D, Miltenburg C, Ojkic D, Brooks A S, and Caswell J L (2022): Laboratory investigation of cases of fatal bacterial pneumonia in dairy cows. Can. Vet. J.-Rev. 63, 845-850.

Carslake C, Vázquez-Diosdado J A, and Kaler J (2021): Machine Learning Algorithms to Classify and Quantify Multiple Behaviours in Dairy Calves Using a Sensor: Moving beyond Classification in Precision Livestock. Sensors 21, 88.

Cenci A, Liciotti D, Frontoni E, Mancini A, and Zingaretti P (2015):Non-Contact Monitoring of Preterm Infants Using RGB-D Camera. In: Proc. ASME 2015 International Design Engineering Technical Conferences and Computers and Information in Engineering Conference.

Chernitskiy A, Shabunin S, Kuchmenko T, and Safonov V (2019): On-farm diagnosis of latent respiratory failure in calves. Turk. J. Vet. Anim. Sci. 43, 707-715. doi: 10.3906/vet-1810-37.

Cook N B, Mentink R L, Bennett T B, and Burgi K (2007): The effect of heat stress and lameness on time budgets of lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 90, 1674-1682. doi: 10.3168/jds.2006-634.

Dado-Senn B, Acosta L V, Rivera M T, Field S L, Marrero M G, Davidson B D, Tao S, Fabris T F, Ortiz-Colon G, Dahl G E, and Laporta J (2020a): Pre- and postnatal heat stress abatement affects dairy calf thermoregulation and performance. J. Dairy Sci. 103, 4822-4837.

doi: 10.3168/jds.2019-17926.

Dado-Senn B, Laporta J, and Dahl G E (2020b): Carry over effects of late-gestational heat stress on dairy cattle progeny. Theriogenology 154, 17-23. doi: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2020.05.012.

Danlois F, Zaltash S, Johansson J, Robertson B, Haagsman H P, Rollin F, Ruysschaert J M, and Vandenbussche G (2003): Pulmonary surfactant from healthy Belgian white and blue and Holstein Friesian calves: Biochemical. Biophysical. Comp. Vet. J. 165, 65-72. doi: 10.1016/s1090-0233(02)0092-8.

Dikmen S, Khan F A, Huson H J, Sonstegard T S, Moss J I, Dahl G E, and Hansen P J (2014): The SLICK hair locus derived from Senepol cattle confers thermotolerance to intensively managed lactating Holstein cows. J Dairy Sci 97, 5508-5520. doi: 10.3168/jds.2014-8087.

Dißmann L, Heinicke J, Jensen K C, Amon T, and Hoffmann G (2022): How should the respiration rate be counted in cattle? Vet. Res. Commun. 46, 1221-1225. doi: 10.1007/s11259-022-09984-7.

Dißmann L, Reinhold P, Smith H J, Amon T, Sergeeva A, and Hoffmann G (2023): Evaluation of a Respiration Rate Sensor for Recording Tidal Volume in Calves under Field Conditions. Sens. 23. doi: 10.3390/s23104683.

Donovan G A, Dohoo I R, Montgomery D M, and Bennett F L (1998): Calf and disease factors affecting growth in female Holstein calves in Florida, USA. Prev Vet Med 33, 1-10. doi: 10.1016/s0167-5877(97)00059-7.

Eigenberg R A, Hahn G L, Nienaber J A, Brown-Brandl T M, and Spiers D E (2000): Development of a new respiration rate monitor for cattle. Transactions of the Asae 43, 723-728.

Ferraro S, Fecteau G, Dubuc J, Francoz D, Rousseau M, Roy J P, and Buczinski S (2021): Scoping review on clinical definition of bovine respiratory disease complex and related clinical signs in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 104, 7095-7108. doi: 10.3168/jds.2020-19471.

Fiore E, Lisuzzo A, Beltrame A, Contiero B, Gianesella M, Schiavon E, Tessari R, Morgante M, and Mazzotta E (2022): Lung Ultrasonography and Clinical Follow-Up Evaluations in Fattening Bulls Affected by Bovine Respiratory Disease (BRD) during the Restocking Period and after Tulathromycin and Ketoprofen Treatment. Anim. 12, 994.

Gallivan G J, McDonell W N, and Forrest J B (1989): Comparative pulmonary mechanics in the horse and the cow. Res Vet Sci 46, 322-330.

Gaughan J B, Holt S M, Hahn G L, Mader T L, and Eigenberg R (2000): Respiration rate - Is it a good measure of heat stress in cattle? Asian-Australas. J. Anim Sci. 13, 329-332.

Gaughan J B, Mader T L, Holt S M, Sullivan M L, and Hahn G L (2010): Assessing the heat tolerance of 17 beef cattle genotypes. Int J Biometeorol 54, 617-627. doi: 10.1007/s00484-009-0233-4.

Gauly M, Bollwein H, Breves G, Brügemann K, Dänicke S, Daş G, Demeler J, Hansen H, Isselstein J, König S, Lohölter M, Martinsohn M, Meyer U, Potthoff M, Sanker C, Schröder B, Wrage N, Meibaum B, von Samson-Himmelstjerna G, Stinshoff H, and Wrenzycki C (2013): Future consequences and challenges for dairy cow production systems arising from climate change in Central Europe - a review. Animal : an international journal of animal bioscience 7, 843-859.

doi: 10.1017/s1751731112002352.

Gustin P, Lekeux P, Lomba F, and Clercx C (1987): Mechanical properties of excised calf lungs: effects of airway obstruction with beads. Res. Vet. Sci. 42, 277-279. doi: 10.1016/S0034-5288(18)30704-5.

Halachmi I, Guarino M, Bewley J, and Pastell M (2019): Smart Animal Agriculture: Application of Real-Time Sensors to Improve Animal Well-Being and Production. Annual review of animal biosciences 7, 403-425. doi: 10.1146/annurev-animal-020518-114851.

Hales J R and Findlay J D (1968): Respiration of the ox: normal values and the effects of exposure to hot environments. Respir Physiol 4, 333-352. doi: 10.1016/0034-5687(68)90039-x.

Hart K D, McBride B W, Duffield T F, and DeVries T J (2013): Effect of milking frequency on the behavior and productivity of lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 96, 6973-6985. doi: 10.3168/jds.2013-6764.

Heinicke J, Hoffmann G, Ammon C, Amon B, and Amon T (2018): Effects of the daily heat load duration exceeding determined heat load thresholds on activity traits of lactating dairy cows. J Therm Biol 77, 67-74.

doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2018.08.012.

Heinicke J, Ott A, Ammon C, and Amon T (2021): Heat Load-Induced Changes in Lying Behavior and Lying Cubicle Occupancy of Lactating Dairy Cows in a Naturally Ventilated Barn. Ann. Anim. Sci. 21, 1543-1553. doi: 10.2478/aoas-2020-0113.

Herbut P, Angrecka S, Godyń D, and Hoffmann G (2019): The Physiological and Productivity Effects of Heat Stress in Cattle – A Review. Ann. Anim. Sci. 19, 579-593. doi: 10.2478/aoas-2019-0011.

Höchel P. (2004): Effects of motor stress on respiratory gas exchange in clinically healthy and respiratory sick calves (Auswirkungen motorischer Belastungen auf den Atemgasaustausch bei klinisch gesunden und respiratorisch erkrankten Kälbern). Dissertation text (Dissertationsschrift). FU Berlin, Journal-No. 2797 Berlin: Mensch&Buch – ISBN 3-89820-811-7

Holter J B, West J W, McGilliard M L, and Pell A N (1996): Predicting ad libitum dry matter intake and yields of Jersey cows. J. Dairy Sci. 79, 912-921. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(96)76441-X.

Ider M and Maden M (2022): Biomarkers of infectious pneumonia in naturally infected calves. Am. J. Vet. Res. 83. doi: 10.2460/ajvr.21.10.0172.

Janni K, Nelson C, Heins B, and Sharpe K (2023): Dairy Cow Thermal Balance Model During Heat Stress: Part 2. Model Assessment. J. ASABE 66, 461-468. doi: 10.13031/ja.15191.

Jentsch W and Derno M (2001): Heat production of dairy cows in relation to performance - a study (Wärmeabgabe der Milchkühe in Abhängigkeit von der Leistung - eine Studie). Arch. Anim. Breed. 44, 599-610. doi: 10.5194/aab-44-599-2001.

Kim S and Hidaka Y (2021): Breathing Pattern Analysis in Cattle Using Infrared Thermography and Comp. Vis. Anim.11. doi: 10.3390/ani11010207.

Kim S H, Ramos S C, Valencia R A, Cho Y I, and Lee S S (2022): Heat Stress: Effects on Rumen Microbes and Host Physiology, and Strategies to Alleviate the Negative Impacts on Lactating Dairy Cows. Front. Microbiol. 13. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2022.804562.

Knickel U R, Wilczek C, and Jöst K (2000): The cattle (Das Rind) In: Practice Guide Veterinary Medicine (Praxis-Leitfaden Tiermedizin). 3. Edition, pp. 375-429 Stuttgart: Schattauer – ISBN 3-7945-1846-2

Koch C and Reinhold P (2015): Healthy lungs for healthy calves and productive dairy cows (Gesunde Lungen für gesunde Kälber und leistungsfähige Milchkühe). Dairy Prac. (Die Milchpraxis). 49, 20-25.

Lewis G F, Gatto R G, and Porges S W (2011): A novel method for extracting respiration rate and relative tidal volume from infrared thermography. Psychophysiology 48, 877-887. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.2010.01167.x.

Li G, Chen S Y, Chen J, Peng D D, and Gu X H (2020): Predicting rectal temperature and respiration rate responses in lactating dairy cows exposed to heat stress. J. Dairy Sci. 103, 5466-5484.

doi: 10.3168/jds.2019-16411.

Lowe G, Sutherland M, Waas J, Schaefer A, Cox N, and Stewart M (2019): Infrared Thermography-A Non-Invasive Method of Measuring Respiration Rate in Calves. Animals 9. doi: 10.3390/ani9080535.

Maia A S, Silva R, and Loureiro C (2008): Latent heat loss of Holstein cows in a tropical environment: A prediction model. Revista Brasileira De Zootecnia-brazilian J. Anim.Sci. – Rev. Bras. Zootecn. 37.

doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982008001000018..

Maia A S C, DaSilva R G, and Loureiro C M B (2005): Respiratory heat loss of Holstein cows in a tropical environment. Int. J. Biometeorol. 49, 332-336. doi: 10.1007/s00484-004-0244-0.

Maia A S C, Gebremedhin K G, Nascimento S T, Carvalho M D, Simao B R, Camerro L Z, and Neto M C. 2014. Development of Facial Masks for Indirect Calorimetric Studies for Livestock. Page 141897355 in ASABE and CSBE/SCGAB Annual International Meeting. American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers, Montreal, Quebec Canada.

McGovern R E and Bruce J M (2000): AP—Animal Production Technology: A Model of the Thermal Balance for Cattle in Hot Conditions. Journal of Agricultural Engineering Research 77, 81-92.

doi: 10.1006/jaer.2000.0560.

McKiernan B C, Dye J A, and Rozanski E A (1993): Tidal breathing flow-volume loops in healthy and bronchitic cats. J. Vet. Intern. Med. 7, 388-393. doi: 10.1111/j.1939-1676.1993.tb01036.x.

Milan H F M, Maia A S C, and Gebremedhin K G (2016): Technical note: Device for measuring respiration rate of cattle under field conditions. J. Anim. Sci. 94, 5434-5438. doi: 10.2527/jas.2016-0904.

Milne S, Jetmalani K, Chapman D G, Duncan J M, Farah C S, Thamrin C, and King G G (2019): Respiratory system reactance reflects communicating lung volume in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J. applied physiology (Bethesda, Md. : 1985) 126, 1223-1231.

doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00503.2018.

Neethirajan S (2020): Transforming the Adaptation Physiology of Farm Animals through Sensors. Animals : an open access journal from MDPI 10. doi: 10.3390/ani10091512.

Nordlund K V, Strassburg P, Bennett T B, Oetzel G R, and Cook N B (2019): Thermodynamics of standing and lying behavior in lactating dairy cows in freestall and parlor holding pens during conditions of heat stress. J. Dairy Sci. 102, 6495-6507. doi: 10.3168/jds.2018-15891.

Ostermann C, Linde S, Siegling-Vlitakis C, and Reinhold P (2014): Evaluation of pulmonary dysfunctions and acid–base imbalances induced by Chlamydia psittaci in a bovine model of respiratory infection. Multidisciplinary Respiratory Medicine 9, 10. doi: 10.1186/2049-6958-9-10.

Özbek M and Ozkan C (2020): Oxidative stress in calves with enzootic pneumonia. Turk. J. Vet. Anim. Sci. 44. doi: 10.3906/vet-2007-17.

Pastell M, Kaihilahti J, Aisla A-M, Hautala M, Poikalainen, and Ahokas J (2007) A system for contact-free measurement of respiration rate of dairy cows. Pages 105-109 in Precision livestock farming. S. Fox, ed, Skiathos, Greece.

Pilatti J A, Vieira F M C, Rankrape F, and Vismara E S (2019): Diurnal behaviors and herd characteristics of dairy cows housed in a compost-bedded pack barn system under hot and humid conditions. Animal : an international journal of animal bioscience 13, 399-406. doi: 10.1017/S1751731118001088.

Pinto S, Hoffmann G, Ammon C, Amon B, Heuwieser W, Halachmi I, Banhazi T, and Amon T (2019): Influence of Barn Climate, Body Postures and Milk Yield on the Respiration Rate of Dairy Cows. Ann. Anim. Sci. 19, 469-481. doi: 10.2478/aoas-2019-0006.

Pinto S, Hoffmann G, Ammon C, and Amon T (2020): Critical THI thresholds based on the physiological parameters of lactating dairy cows. J. Therm. Biol. 88, 102523.

Porter M M, McDonald P O, Slate J R, Kreuder A J, and McGill J L (2021): Use of Thoracic Ultrasonography to Improve Disease Detection in Experimental BRD Infection. Frontiers in Veterinary Science 8.

doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.763972.

Poulsen K P and McGuirk S M (2009): Respiratory disease of the bovine neonate. Vet. Clin. North Am. Food Anim. Pract. 25, 121-137, vi-vii. doi: 10.1016/j.cvfa.2008.10.007.

Prohl A, Ostermann C, Lohr M, and Reinhold P (2014): The Bovine Lung in Biomedical Research: Visually Guided Bronchoscopy, Intrabronchial Inoculation and In Vivo Sampling Techniques. Jove-Journal of Visualized Experiments. doi: 10.3791/51557.

Puig A, Ruiz M, Bassols M, Fraile L, and Armengol R (2022): Technological Tools for the Early Detection of Bovine Respiratory Disease in Farms. Animals 12. doi: 10.3390/ani12192623.

Ravagnolo O, Misztal I, and Hoogenboom G (2000): Genetic Component of Heat Stress in Dairy Cattle, Development of Heat Index Function. J. Dairy Sci. 83, 2120-2125. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(00)75094-6.

Reece W O and Rowe E W (2018): The Respiratory System In: Functional Anatomy and Physiology of Domestic Animals/ Ed.: Reece W O and Rowe E W, 5th Edition, PP 258-297 Singapore: John Wiley & Son – ISBN 0813814510

Reinhold P and Fodisch G (1993): Lung-Function Diagnostics in Clinically Intact and Pneumonia-affected Calves. Monthly J. Veterinary med. (Monatsheft Veterinarmedizin) 48, 113-117.

Reinhold P (1997): Fundamentals and peculiarities of lung function in cattle (Grundlagen und Besonderheiten der Lungenfunktion beim Rind). Vet. Surv. (Tierarztl. Umsch.) 52, 582-592.

Reinhold P, Smith H J, Langenberg A, and Lekeux P (1998a): Measurement of respiratory impedance in healthy calves using the impulse oscillation technique - Physiological and methodological aspects. Vet. J. 155, 27-38. doi: 10.1016/s1090-0233(98)80032-4.

Reinhold P, Steinbach G, Langenberg A, and Lekeux P (1998b): Mechanics of breathing in animals. Part 3: Methodological and Physiological Aspects using the Impulse Oscillometry System (IOS). Berl. Munch. Veterinary Weekly (Berl. Münch. Tierarztl. Wochenschr.) 111, 253-261.

Reinhold P, Rabeling B, Gunther H, and Schimmel D (2002): Comparative evaluation of ultrasonography and lung function testing with the clinical signs and pathology of calves inoculated experimentally with Pasteurella multocida. Vet. Rec. 150, 109-114. doi: 10.1136/vr.150.4.109.

Reinhold P, Costabel U, Hamacher J, Theegarten D, and Rosenbruch M (2005): Bronchoalveolar lavage in humans and animals -- comparative aspects. Pneumol. (Pneumologie) 59, 485-501.

doi: 10.1055/s-2005-870918.

Reinhold P (2023): Pulmonary function diagnostics in veterinary medicine (Lungenfunktionsdiagnostik in der Veterinärmedizin). Resp. Lung. Dis. (Atemwegs- und Lungenkrankheiten) 2023; 49, 522-543. Dustri-Verlag Dr. K. Feistle ISSN 0341-3055

Robinson N E (1982): Some functional consequences of species differences in lung anatomy. Adv Vet Sci Comp Med 26, 1-33.

Ruban S, Borshch O O, Borshc O V, Orischuk O, Balatskiy Y, Fedorchenko M, Kachan A, and Ziochevskiy M (2020): The impact of high temperatures on respiration rate, breathing condition and productivity of dairy cows in different production systems. Animal Science Papers and Reports 38, 61-72.

Sabuncuoglu N, Coban O, Lacin E, Yildiz A, Akbulut O, Yaganoglu A V, and Sagsoz Y (2008): Effect of barn ventilation on blood gas status and some physiological traits of dairy cows. J. Environ. Biol. 29, 107-110.

Santos-Rivera M, Woolums A, Thoresen M, Blair E, Jefferson V, Meyer F, and Vance C K (2021): Profiling Mannheimia haemolytica infection in dairy calves using near infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) and multivariate analysis (MVA). Sci. Rep. 11, 1392. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-81032-x.

Schüller L K, Burfeind O, and Heuwieser W (2013): Short communication: Comparison of ambient temperature, relative humidity, and temperature-humidity index between on-farm measurements and official meteorological data. J Dairy Sci 96, 7731-7738. doi: 10.3168/jds.2013-6736.

Schütz K E, Cox N R, and Tucker C B (2014): A field study of the behavioral and physiological effects of varying amounts of shade for lactating cows at pasture. J. Dairy Sci. 97, 3599-3605.

doi: 10.3168/jds.2013-7649.

Schütz K E, Rogers A R, Cox N R, and Tucker C B (2009): Dairy cows prefer shade that offers greater protection against solar radiation in summer: Shade use, behaviour, and body temperature. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 116, 28-34. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2008.07.005.

Shu H, Li Y, Bindelle J, Jin Z, Fang T, Xing M, Guo L, and Wang W (2023): Predicting physiological responses of dairy cows using comprehensive variables. Comput Electron Agric 207, 107752.

doi: 10.1016/j.compag.2023.107752.

Shu H, Wang W, Guo L, and Bindelle J (2021): Recent Advances on Early Detection of Heat Strain in Dairy Cows Using Animal-Based Indicators: A Review. Animals : an open access journal from MDPI 11. doi: 10.3390/ani11040980.

Silanikove N (2000): Effects of heat stress on the welfare of extensively managed domestic ruminants. Livestock Production Science 67, 1-18. doi: 10.1016/S0301-6226(00)00162-7.

Smith H, Reinhold P, and Goldman M (2005): Forced oscillation technique and impulse oscillometry. European Respiratory Monograph 31. doi: 10.1183/1025448x.00031005.

Smith R A, Step D L, and Woolums A R (2020): Bovine Respiratory Disease: Looking Back and Looking Forward, What Do We See? Vet. Clin. North Am. Food Anim. Pract. 36, 239-251.

doi: 10.1016/j.cvfa.2020.03.009.

Song X, Tol P P J, Groot Koerkamp P W G, and Bokkers E A M (2019): Hot topic: Automated assessment of reticulo-ruminal motility in dairy cows using 3-dimensional vision. J. Dairy Sci. 102.

doi: 10.3168/jds.2019-16550.

Sosa F, Carmickle A T, Jiménez-Cabán E, Ortega M S, Dikmen S, Negrón-Pérez V, Jannaman E A, Baktula A, Rincon G, Larson C C, Pagán-Morales M, Denicol A C, Sonstegard T S, and Hansen P J (2021): Inheritance of the SLICK1 allele of PRLR in cattle. Anim. Genet. 52, 887-890. doi: 10.1111/age.13145.

Spinhirne J P, Koziel J A, and Chirase N K (2004): Sampling and analysis of volatile organic compounds in bovine breath by solid-phase microextraction and gas chromatography–mass spectrometry. J. Chromatogr. A 1025, 63-69. doi: 10.1016/j.chroma.2003.08.062.

St-Pierre N, Cobanov B, and Schnitkey G (2003): Economic Losses from Heat Stress by US Livestock Industries. J. Dairy Sci. 86. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(03)74040-5.

Stewart M, Wilson M T, Schaefer A L, Huddart F, and Sutherland M A (2017): The use of infrared thermography and accelerometers for remote monitoring of dairy cow health and welfare. J. Dairy Sci. 100, 3893-3901. doi: 10.3168/jds.2016-12055.

Stöber M (1990): Respiratory system (Atmungsapparat) In: The Clinical Examination of Cattle (Die klinische Untersuchung des Rindes) /Ed: Rosenberger G., Dirksen G, Gründer H, and Stöber M, 3. Edition, pp. 242- 287 Berlin: Paul Parey – ISBN 3-489-56516-9

Strong R A, Silva E B, Cheng H W, and Eicher S D (2015): Acute brief heat stress in late gestation alters neonatal calf innate immune functions. J. Dairy Sci. 98, 7771-7783. doi: 10.3168/jds.2015-9591.

Strutzke S, Fiske D, Hoffmann G, Ammon C, Heuwieser W, and Amon T (2019): Technical note: Development of a noninvasive respiration rate sensor for cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 102, 690-695.

doi: 10.3168/jds.2018-14999.

Thom E C (1958): Cooling degree days. Air Conditiong, Heating and Ventilating 55, 65-69.

Thornton P, Nelson G, Mayberry D, and Herrero M (2022): Impacts of heat stress on global cattle production during the 21st century: a modelling study. The Lancet. Planetary health 6, e192-e201.

doi: 10.1016/s2542-5196(22)00002-x.

Timsit E, Hallewell J, Booker C, Tison N, Amat S, and Alexander T W (2017): Prevalence and antimicrobial susceptibility of Mannheimia haemolytica, Pasteurella multocida, and Histophilus somni isolated from the lower respiratory tract of healthy feedlot cattle and those diagnosed with bovine respiratory disease. Vet. Microbiol. 208, 118-125. doi: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2017.07.013.

Tresoldi G, Schütz K E, and Tucker C B (2019): Cooling cows with sprinklers: Effects of soaker flow rate and timing on behavioral and physiological responses to heat load and production. J. Dairy Sci. 102, 528-538. doi: 10.3168/jds.2018-14962.

Tuan S A, Rustia D J A, Hsu J T, and Lin T T (2022): Frequency modulated continuous wave radar-based system for monitoring dairy cow respiration rate. Comput. Electron. Agric. 196. doi: 10.1016/j.compag.2022.106913.

Veit H and Farrel R (1978): The anatomy and physiology of the bovine respiratory system relating to pulmonary disease. The Cornell Veterinarian 68, 555-581.

Vitali A, Segnalini M, Bertocchi L, Bernabucci U, Nardone A, and Lacetera N (2009): Seasonal pattern of mortality and relationships between mortality and temperature-humidity index in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 92, 3781-3790. doi: 10.3168/jds.2009-2127.

Weekley L B and Veit H P (1995): Potential Morphologic and Physiological Factors that may predispose the Bovine Lung to Respiratory-Disease. Compendium on Continuing Education for the Practicing Veterinarian 17, 974-982.

West J (2003): Effects of Heat-Stress on Production in Dairy Cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 86, 2131-2144.

doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(03)73803-X.

White B J and Renter D G (2009): Bayesian estimation of the performance of using clinical observations and harvest lung lesions for diagnosing bovine respiratory disease in postweaned beef calves. J. Vet. Diagn. Invest. 21, 446-453. doi: 10.1177/104063870902100405.

Wilhelm F H, Roth W T, and Sackner M A (2003): The lifeShirt. An advanced system for ambulatory measurement of respiratory and cardiac function. Behav. Modif. 27, 671-691. doi: 10.1177/0145445503256321.

Wu D H, Yin X Q, Jiang B, Jiang M, Li Z Y, and Song H B (2020): Detection of the respiratory rate of standing cows by combining the Deeplab V3+semantic segmentation model with the phase-based video magnification algorithm. Biosystems Engineering 192, 72-89. doi: 10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2020.01.012.

Zhou M, Huynh T T T, Koerkamp P, Dixhoorn I, Amon T, and Aarnink A J A (2022): Effects of increasing air temperature on skin and respiration heat loss from dairy cows at different relative humidity and air velocity levels. J. Dairy Sci. 105, 7061-7078. doi: 10.3168/jds.2021-21683.

Zimbelman R and Collier R (2011): Feeding Strategies for High-Producing Dairy Cows During Periods of Elevated Heat and Humidity. In: Proceedings of the 20th Annual Tri-State Dairy Nutrition Conference/Ed.: Eastridge M L : Proceedings of the 20th Annual Tri-State Dairy Nutrition Conference

Grand Wayne Center, Fort Wayne, Indiana, USA, 19-20 April, pp.111-126 ref.35.

8. Publications and Oral Presentations

Publications

- L. Dißmann, J. Heinicke, K. C. Jensen, T. Amon, G. Hoffmann How should the respiration rate be counted in cattle? Vet Res Commun. 2022 Dec; 46(4):1221-1225. doi: 10.1007/s11259-022-09984-7. Epub 17 August 2022. PMID: 35976483; PMCID: PMC9684242
- L. Dißmann, P. Reinhold, H. J. Smith, T. Amon, A. Sergeeva, G. Hoffmann Evaluation of a Respiration Rate Sensor for Recording Tidal Volume in Calves under Field Conditions. Sensors (Basel). 12 May 2023; 23(10):4683. doi: 10.3390/ s23104683. PMID: 37430597; PMCID: PMC10223783

Oral Presentations

- Measurement of respiratory characteristics in cattle.

 Dißmann
 PhD-Day at Leibniz Institute for Agricultural Engineering and Bioeconomy (ATB), Hybrid-Conference, 25 May 2022; Potsdam, Germany
- Thermodynamic prediction of heat stress in dairy cattle predictive models for barn climate optimization.
 T. Amon, S. Foroushani, G. Hoffmann, J. Heinicke, L. Dißmann, J David, S. Hempel, C. Ammon
 10th European Conference on Precision Livestock Farming (ECPLF), 29 August 2022; Wien Austria
- Development and application of a respiration rate sensor in dairy cows for heat stress detection (Entwicklung und Anwendung eines Atemfrequenzsensors bei Milchkühen zur Hitzestresserkennung).
 G. Hoffmann, J. Heinicke, C. Ammon, S. Strutzke, S. Pinto, L. Dißmann, T. Amon 15th Conference on Construction, Technology and Environment in Agricultural

Livestock Farming (15. Tagung: Bau, Technik und Umwelt (BTU)), 15 September 2022; Soest, Germany

- Artificial intelligence for detecting of respiration in dairy cows.
 L. Dißmann, M. Trescher, G. Hoffmann
 X-KIT kick-off event at the Fraunhofer Institute for Experimental Software Engineering (IESE), 08 and 09 February 2023 (poster presentation); Kaiserslautern, Germany
- Artificial intelligence for measuring the respiration rate in dairy cows.
 L. Dißmann, R. Antia, L. Chinthakayala, N. Landwehr, T. Amon, G. Hoffmann Book of Abstracts of the 74th Annual Meeting of the European Federation of Animal Science, Book of abstracts No. 29 (2023) 26 August – 01 September 2023 pp. 758 (28 August 2023, presentation in Session 65); Lyon, France

6. Artificial intelligence for recording of respiration in dairy cows.

L. Dißmann

X-Kit Cluster Meeting "Animal husbandry" at Educational and Research Institute for Animal Breeding and Husbandry (Lehr- und Versuchsanstalt für Tierzucht und Tierhaltung (LVAT)), 26 September 2023; Groß Kreutz, Germany

- Recording methods of respiratory parameters in cattle.
 L. Dißmann PhD-Day at Leibniz Institute for Agricultural Engineering and Bioeconomy (ATB), Hybrid-Conference, 05 December 2023; Potsdam, Germany
- 8. Sensor systems in dairy livestock farming based on the example of respiration rate recording.

L. Dißmann

Online presentation for agricultural students of the bachelor program Livestock & Agriculture Technology, Lakeland College, 31 January 2024; Alberta, USA

 Artificial intelligence for detecting the respiration in dairy cows.
 L. Dißmann, A. R. Muhammad, M. Trescher Poster as part of the AI Research Atlas <u>https://ai-science-atlas.innohub13.de/</u> (accessed on 28 February 2024)

9. Acknowledgements

I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere thanks to all those who have supported me over the last 2 $\frac{1}{2}$ years in the preparation of this dissertation.

I thank my supervisor, Prof. Dr. Thomas Amon, for the opportunity to carry out this doctoral thesis within the project KAMI, for the constructive professional discussions, for his constant motivation and supportive words.

I would also like to thank my mentor, Dr. Gundula Hoffmann, for her support regarding scientific questions and practical challenges in the barn. Many thanks for your trust and the opportunity to help structuring the KAMI project myself, which enabled me to develop my skills in the area of project management. I have always been impressed by her ability to stay calm in stressful situations.

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Petra Reinhold and Hans-Jürgen Smith for their commitment in conducting the pulmonary function testing trials in the barn and for providing the necessary technical equipment as well as for their support with their broad expertise in the field of pulmonary function diagnostics and engineering knowledge.

I would also like to thank my colleagues from the Sensors and Modelling department of the ATB, who made the collaboration very pleasant with their friendly and helpful attitude. In particular, I would like to thank Dr. Julia Heinicke and Kay Fromm for their active support in the barn during data collection.

I thank Saskia Strutzke and Daniel Fiske for providing the RR sensor and for their support with technical expertise on the sensor system.

I would like to thank the Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture (BMEL) as well as the Federal Office for Agriculture and Food for funding the KAMI project, which made this dissertation possible.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family and Johannes Busse for their constant support and patience.

Thank you!

10. Funding Sources

The dissertation was funded through the project KAMI by the BMEL (grant number: 28DK113A20).

11. Conflict of Interest

In the context of this work, there are no conflicts of interest due to donations from third parties.

12. Declaration of Independence

I hereby declare that I wrote the manuscript myself. I certify that I have used only the sources and assistance indicated. My contribution to the research project within the framework of my cumulative doctoral thesis is summarized in the following table.

	RESEARCH PROJECT 1 / PUBLICATION "A"	RESEARCH PROJECT 2 / PUBLICATION "B"
STUDY DESIGN	+++1	++
DATA COLLECTION	++	+++
DATA ANALYSIS	++	+++
MANUSCIPT WRITING	+++	+++
MANUSCRIPT EDITING	+++	++
1 Sector: $\pm < 50\% + \pm = 50.70\%$	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

¹Score: + ≤ 50%; ++ = 50-70%; +++ ≥70%

Potsdam, den 28.02.2024

Lena Sophia Dißmann